

Degree Program in Policies and Governance in Europe – Economic Governance and Market Regulation

Course: Regulation by Independent Agencies

Delegation of powers to the Commission in the Digital Markets Act

Prof. Marta Simoncini
SUPERVISOR

Prof. Mark Thatcher
CO-SUPERVISOR

Hugo Pinai – ID: 645992 CANDIDATE

Academic Year: 2022/2023

To all my friends and family and to the love of my life.

Without your unwavering support, love and understanding,

I would never have been able to finish this journey.

I don't know what the future holds, but

"all we have to decide is what to do with the time that is given to us".

Table of contents

1. Introduction	.1
2. Theoretical framework: delegation of powers in the European Union	4
2.1The Principal-Agent model: origin and main concepts	.4
2.2How the P-A model has been applied in EU studies	.7
2.3Evolution of delegation in the EU: network governance and agencification	10
2.4How explanatory factors from the P-A framework can be used to answer the resear	ch
question	13
3. Why regulatory efficiency is not a sufficient explanation for the level of delegation	to
the Commission in the DMA: issues with centralised enforcement and implementation	on
of the DMA	15
3.1A brief overview of the key elements of the Digital Markets Act	16
3.2The Commission as the centralised regulator for the digital markets	.17
3.3Inefficiencies of centralisation at the Commission level	19
4. How political pressure, credible commitment and conflict between principals ha	ıV€
contributed to the decision to delegate new powers to the Commission	26
4.1The DMA's legislative process	.27
4.2Explanatory factors that contributed to the decision to delegate	33
5. Conclusion	37
Reference list	41
Thesis summary	47

1. Introduction

The European Digital Markets Act (DMA), first proposed by the European Commission on 15 December 2020 (COM, 2020), was officially adopted on 14 September 2022 as a landmark new piece of legislation seeking to address the competition problems caused by a small number of giant tech corporations in the digital economy. These large digital players act as gateways to the digital markets for other businesses and for consumers by providing one or more of what the regulation defines as ten kinds of "core platform services" (art. 2 DMA). In doing so, they have been able to create increasingly entrenched positions of dominance, which they have leveraged to make all users dependent on them, set conditions unilaterally and generally eliminate competition in the provision of their services. Acknowledging that competition law enforcement had not been able to correct or prevent the harmful behaviours of these powerful companies (COM, 2020), the Commission proposed the DMA with the objective of ensuring fairness and contestability in the digital markets, which the regulation will seek to do by introducing a series of asymmetrical behavioural obligations on undertakings that will be designated as "gatekeepers" according to a set of quantitative and qualitative criteria (art. 3 DMA).

Most of the academic literature analysing the DMA, during and after its final approval, has primarily focused on critically assessing its contents, its institutional design and its relationship with general EU competition law and areas of national law with which it could overlap (Akman, 2021; Carugati, 2021 and 2022; Chirico, 2021; Colangelo, 2022; De Streel & Larouche, 2021; Falce, 2021; Komninos, 2022; Larouche & De Streel, 2021; Monti, 2021; Petit, 2021; Renda, 2022; Van Cleynenbreugel, 2021). What emerges from reviewing these analyses is a general consensus among academics that the ex-ante obligations introduced by the DMA on the behaviour of large digital players are necessary and should be more effective at preventing distortions of competition in the digital economy compared to ex-post competition law enforcement. At the same time, scholars also generally agree that the system of enforcement chosen for this regulation might prevent it from fully achieving its goals. The reason for these doubts is that the EU legislators, rather than opting for the model of indirect administration that is usually employed for EU regulation, made the unusual decision to delegate all implementation to the European Commission, which scholars have argued will most likely not have enough resources and expertise to carry out this new role effectively.

However, despite the fact that centralised enforcement has been considered questionable for the purposes of the regulation, not much attention has been paid in the literature to the fact that centralisation is a key feature that distinguishes the DMA from the vast majority of EU regulation. While the delegation of exclusive powers to supranational institutions is a key feature of the European Union, this generally happens at the treaty level, with member states coming to an agreement on what elements of their sovereignty they are willing to delegate in order to further the European integration project (Franchino, 2004; Majone, 2001; Pollack, 2006; Coen & Thatcher, 2008). On the other hand, it is much rarer for secondary EU legislation to give excusive discretionary powers to an EU institution (Migliorati, 2021). In fact, in the post-Maastricht period a model of multi-level network governance has become increasingly dominant: EU regulations are

normally implemented at the national level, often through a national regulatory agency (NRA), while in order to encourage a harmonised approach throughout the Union a network of regulators or an EU agency is set up, which are EU-level institutions with relatively limited formal powers where national regulators share information, coordinate and develop best practices for enforcement (Dehousse, 2008; Dehousse, 2013; Coen & Thatcher, 2008; Migliorati, 2021; Martinsen, Mastenbroek & Schrama, 2022; Ripoll Servant, 2018). If one takes this general "agencification" trend into account, the DMA can be considered a significant outlier, which raises a fundamental question that at the time of writing has not received much attention from the academic literature: why did the EU legislators, but especially the member states, make the unusual decision to delegate exclusive new powers to the Commission to implement the DMA? Or in other words, what specific factors contributed to this unusual case of delegation, in contrast with the general trend towards network governance and agencification in EU internal market regulation?

This thesis seeks to find an answer to this research question by analysing the DMA's case of delegation within the wider literature on the delegation of powers in the EU, and in particular, it will use the Principal-Agent framework as the theoretical basis for this analysis. The P-A theory is an analytical tool that frames the act of delegating powers from one or more actors, the principals, to another actor, the agent, to achieve a specific goal (Epstein & O'Halloran, 1994 and 1999). In political science, it is generally used to analyse the relationship between elected officials (the principals) and the non-majoritarian institutions (the agents) they may confer powers onto with the objective of implementing a public policy, in an effort to answer different questions about delegation: for instance, why do principals choose to delegate some of their powers? What degree of discretion are agents given and why? How does the relationship between principals and agents evolve following the act of delegation?

The P-A framework has been used by scholars to analyse the different paths delegation might take in the European context, and in fact it has been applied to explain the increasingly dominant model of multi-level governance that the DMA is an outlier of. In this sense, discussing the DMA's case within this framework will not only provide an answer for this thesis' research question, by finding explanatory factors that contributed to the ultimate decision to delegate new powers to the Commission, but also make a small contribution to this line of literature, by showing how it can be applied to a case that seemingly defies expectations and is an outlier compared to wider trends in EU governance.

The thesis will be structured as follows.

Chapter 2 will lay out the theoretical framework that will be necessary to answer the research question by reviewing some of the main contributions of the Principal-Agent literature. It will first discuss the origins of this framework in American economics and political science and its main concepts: the core relationship between principals, the actors that choose to delegate powers, and agents, the actors who have powers conferred onto them, and some of the main functional explanations for why elected officials choose to delegate discretionary powers to non-majoritarian institutions (section 2.1). It will then analyse the application of this general model to the specific case of the European Union, discussing how the nature of the Union makes P-A

relationships more complex and outlining how the explanatory factors for delegation apply to a political system that is different from a state (section 2.2). Having set out the main concepts of the framework in its application to EU studies, section 2.3 will demonstrate how the decision to delegate implementation of the DMA exclusively to the Commission is an interesting outlier to a general trend in EU regulation toward network governance and agencification, framing this trend within a P-A approach and also obtaining from this analysis additional factors that may influence acts of delegation in the EU. Finally, section 2.4 will recap the most important points resulting from the literature review done in the chapter and explain how, despite going against expectations, delegation in the DMA can still be analysed through the P-A framework.

Chapter 3 will argue that the main functional factors that are normally utilised by the P-A literature to provide an explanation for individual acts of delegation, regulatory efficiency and policy complexity, are not strong explanatory factors for the case of the DMA. It will do so by first briefly reviewing some of the main elements and objectives of the regulation (section 3.1) and the specific powers being delegated to the Commission to exercise its role as centralised regulator for the digital markets (section 3.2). It will then make the case that the decision to centralise all implementation in the hands of the Commission will most likely cause inefficiencies because of insufficient resources and expertise to enforce the regulation and because of the overlaps and conflicts with national laws, which might lead to fragmentation (section 3.3). Because of these problems, it will argue that regulatory efficiency and the need for technical expertise could not have been the main concerns of the EU legislators during the DMA's legislative process and that other factors must have contributed to the decision to delegate new powers to the Commission.

Chapter 4 will make the argument that these factors were a strong political pressure to find an EU-wide solution to the issues of the digital markets, the need to make a credible commitment to strict new rules for digital platforms and the dynamics of mistrust and conflict between member states during the DMA's legislative process. Section 4.1 will reconstruct this process by discussing the most relevant events and dynamics that led to the DMA's proposal and eventual approval, while section 4.2 will refer back to explanatory factors identified during the literary review of the applications of the P-A framework to the EU and use evidence from the legislative process to show how those factors ultimately contributed to the decision to delegate discretionary and exclusive new powers to the European Commission to implement the Digital Markets Act.

Finally, the conclusion will recap the main arguments of the thesis and briefly discuss how it contributes to the wider literature on EU governance and delegation.

2. Theoretical framework: delegation of powers in the European Union

This chapter will provide the theoretical basis for the analysis of the delegation of new enforcement and implementation powers to the European Commission under the Digital Markets Act (DMA). It will first outline the origins and main elements of the Principal-Agent model of delegation to non-majoritarian institutions (NMIs) (section 2.1). It will then review how the model has been adapted and applied from its origin in a national context to the study of delegation in the particular case of the EU (section 2.2). It will also briefly describe the evolution of delegation in the EU and point out how the DMA's institutional design is a relatively rare and unique case compared to the general trend towards network governance and "agencification" (section 2.3). Finally, it will outline how explanatory factors emerging from this overview will be then applied to the DMA's specific case to answer the research question (section 2.4).

2.1 The Principal-Agent model: origin and main concepts

The principal-agent (P-A) model finds its origins in the work of American economists who first utilized it to analyse the insurance sector and then applied the model to the relationships within companies between shareholders, who own the companies, and executives, who are delegated the powers to manage them (Spence & Zeckhauser, 1971, cited in Delreux & Adriansen, 2017; Jensen & Meckling, 1976). It was then adopted by political scientists as a framework used to analyse the phenomenon of the delegation of powers to independent regulatory agencies and other non-majoritarian institutions, such as independent central banks and courts, by the American Congress (Epstein & O'Halloran, 1994 and 1999).

In its application to politics, the model can be described as a way to frame the mechanism of delegation: in order to achieve a specific goal, for instance the implementation of a policy, one actor, the "principal", chooses to delegate some of its powers to another newly appointed actor, the "agent", who then has a level of autonomy and discretion to achieve that goal. In their seminal work applying the original economic concepts to the political sphere, which would go on to become the basis for the application of the PA framework to the study of international organizations and the European Union (Delreux & Adriansen, 2017), Epstein and O'Halloran sought to answer the question of why elected officials (in their case Congress) would make the conscious decision to delegate some of their powers to a separate authority, as well as to analyse the relation between the principle and agent once the latter has been established. To put it simply, why do principals choose to delegate some of their authority? And how do they ensure that once delegation has happened their original objectives will actually be achieved, or even just pursued, by the agent?

The first element of the P-A framework is the analysis of the decision to delegate. According to this literature, political principals make the decision to delegate powers to an agent because they believe that delegation will be beneficial for the achievement of their policy objectives. Some of the most widely recognised reasons for giving up some powers to a non-majoritarian institution in the literature are what Thatcher and Stone Sweet (2002) define as "functional" reasons for delegation. In particular, principals delegate to agents to:

- improve the efficiency of implementation and regulations: NMIs are considered the most appropriate regulators for a public policy area, as they are seen as more efficient at implementing and even specifying the detailed application of the general policies set out by the principals. For instance, anti-trust authorities are generally considered more efficient at preventing or addressing anti-competitive behaviour than leaving that power in the hands of elected officials;
- implement a policy that requires a high level of expertise: NMIs are generally comprised of experts in the specific sectors they are established for, and their expertise is both considered necessary to regulate that sector or implement a public policy and unavailable to elected officials. Here an example could be national, international or supranational medical authorities who employ experts who are in charge of setting rules and standards in that field, for example by establishing a set of rules for the approval of a specific medicine being to be sold on the market;
- make a credible long-term commitment to a specific public policy: an NMI is considered more credible in its commitment to a long-term policy, as its preferences and objectives are not directly affected by electoral politics and changes in government. For example, it has become standard practice in most western countries to delegate the control of monetary policy to an independent central bank, who's role, in the simplest terms, is to maintain the yearly inflation rate at a certain level for the long-term, and is considered more credible in that commitment than elected politicians would be.

In summary, legislators confer powers on an NMI because they believe it will be functional to their policy goals. However, it is important to note that the P-A model provides a framework through which specific cases of delegation can be analysed, but it is not a deterministic set of causes and effects that always lead to the same outcomes. While in general, functional explanations are always part of the reason why delegation happens, they cannot explain on their own how elected officials came to the conclusion that delegation was the best option for a specific policy in the first place and they cannot account for variation across time, policy areas and countries (Thatcher & Stone Sweet, 2002). Perhaps most crucially, they cannot fully explain the differing levels of discretion and the range of powers that NMIs are given by their principals, as well as their specific institutional design. Other essential political and institutional factors must also be considered: policy learning and isomorphism, country-specific institutional history (Thatcher & Stone Sweet, 2002), the general political climate in which the act of delegation is being implemented in terms of the political pressure to achieve a certain goal (Dehousse, 2013; Mathieu, 2020), the relative levels of cohesiveness or conflict between principals, either within individual institutions or between different institutions that participate in the act (Heldt, 2021; Migliorati, 2021).

Having made the decision to create an NMI or delegate more powers to a previously existing one, legislators then shall determine how much power and autonomy they are willing to confer on such bodies, which is generally formalised with a statute. In delegating powers, legislators inevitably face the risk that agents either develop their own autonomous priorities and objectives that diverge from those of the principals

- a phenomenon called "agency drift" in the P-A literature - or are unable to achieve the policy outcomes they were expected to pursue, showing "agency loss" (Migliorati, 2021). Ideally, principals should give NMIs enough authority and discretion to achieve the desired goals but not so much that they become too independent and act on their own agendas. Thus, the level of discretion they are willing to give to NMIs is an essential variable for principals in their act of delegation (Franchino, 2004; Migliorati, 2021). In studying individual cases of delegation, if "why delegate?" is the first and question to answer, "how much delegation and why this specific amount of delegation?" is the obvious corollary, as it provides a more complete picture. The level of discretion, just like the decision to delegate, can be analysed with a combination of functional and political factors.

In order to discuss the level of discretion in a specific case of delegation, the P-A scholarship has focused on the institutional design of NMIs in terms of the ex-ante and ex-post systems of controls that principals can employ to ensure their agents actually pursue their policy objectives (Migliorati, 2021). Principals can attempt to control the actions of their agents by clearly delineating, in statutes, their powers, area of authority and the procedures they must follow (ex-ante) and by maintaining a level of direct control on them even once they are established, for instance by controlling their budgets and their membership (ex-post).

The basic theoreticalts from the P-A literature outlined so far could already provide some insights into the delegation of powers to the Commission with the DMA. Functional and political pressures could be used to provide an explanation to the need for a regulation specifically targeting large tech companies operating in the digital markets and distorting competition and for the delegation of the enforcement and implementation side of the regulation. However, what is interesting about the DMA, in terms of the delegation literature, is not the question "why delegate?", but it is "why delegate to the Commission?".

While the delegation of enforcement and implementation is a commonplace practice in EU governance, in the majority of cases powers have been delegated to national regulatory agencies under the model of indirect administration (Simoncini, 2018), with some level of supranational coordination in the form of European Administrative Networks or European Agencies, which are more or less formal EU-level institutions in which NRAs and the Commission pool their competences and develop best practices in order to ensure as much as possible a harmonised approach throughout the EU (Martinsen, Mastenbroek & Schrama, 2022). In the DMA, contrary to expectations, enforcement and implementation are entirely in the hands of the Commission and there are very limited systems of coordination with the national level to ensure harmonisation and avoid conflicts between the enforcement of the DMA and other EU and national laws that target similar policy areas (Carugati, 2021; Carugati, 2022; Colangelo, 2022).

To attempt to untangle the seemingly unexpected decision to delegate new powers to the Commission it is first and foremost necessary to review how the P-A framework has been adapted and employed by scholars to the specific case of the European Union.

2.2 How the P-A framework has been applied in EU studies

In applying the model of delegation developed by Epstein and O'Halloran for national systems to the study of delegation in the EU, the first consideration to make is that, however obvious this might seem, the EU is not a state, but a complex supranational political system characterised by a multiplicity of actors who can, on a case-by-case basis, be principals or agents. Delegation in the EU may take multiple different directions and forms: member states may delegate powers to the EU level; an EU regulation might delegate implementation powers to the member states; a network of national regulators or an EU agency might be set up and given some powers to ensure harmonisation (Dehousse, 2013; Migliorati, 2021). In each of these cases the principals and agents change: the member states, represented in the Council, are principals when they are delegating powers to the EU, but national authorities are also agents of the EU when they are put in charge of implementing EU law; the Commission is an agent for the member states, but it may also be considered a principal, given that it has the power to introduce legislative proposal that may lead to acts of delegation; the Council and European Parliament (EP) also act as agents in exercising the powers that were delegated to them by the treaties, but they also share legislative power at the EU level so they are also principals in delegating implementation to the national level. In fact, most acts of delegation in the EU involve multiple principals, who most of the time will have differences in their preferences and interests, and are directly shaped by the dynamics between them (Dehousse, 2008; Dehousse, 2013). Not only will there be complex dynamics between the main EU institutions, who will each presumably attempt to push their own agendas, but also between different member states or groups of member states.

In one of the earliest applications of the P-A framework to the EU, Majone (2001) reframes Epstein and O'Halloran's model and states that the two main reasons for delegation are the reduction of decision-making costs for elected officials, for instance by leveraging the expertise of the members of an agency, and the need to make a credible commitment to a certain policy. Majone argues that the EU presents a form of full delegation of political property rights, defined as the "rights to exercise public authority in a given policy area" (Majone, 2001, p. 113), from the member states to EU institutions that cannot be explained by the agency literature alone. When member states give up some of their sovereignty to the EU through the treaties, whichever EU institution is in charge of a specific power is not acting simply as an agent but it has full discretion over a specific policy area. In this case, rather than a relationship between principle and agent, the dynamic between the EU and the member states is that of a trustee in a fiduciary relationship: the trustee (the EU) manages its powers for the benefit of the fiduciaries (the member states). To explain such a strong case of delegation, Majone identifies the need on the part of the members to prove the credibility of their major commitment to the process of European integration as the most important factor.

The need expressed by Majone to go beyond the P-A model to analyse full delegation in the EU context has been debated. However, what remains relevant in all the P-A literature in EU studies is the credible commitment to supranational integration as an important explanatory factor, especially when delegation is made directly to an EU institution, such as the Commission or the ECB. In his analysis of delegation by the

members to the Commission in the treaties, Pollack (2006) seconds Majone's explanation, although in his view this is consistent with expectations built on the P-A model. He points out that the strongest powers given to the Commission are in setting the agenda for the Union, as it has the exclusive right to propose EU legislation, and in monitoring member state compliance with EU law, with both soft law measures and the faculty of opening an infringement procedure against members in front of the Court of Justice. He concludes, similarly to Majone, that these powers were delegated by the member states as a means to ensure their mutual commitment to the integration project.

Furthermore, Dehousse (2013) argues that full delegation to the EU can be framed within a P-A model as long as it is adapted to consider the existence of multiple principles and the dynamics between them, which is the approach that this thesis will take. In his view, at the inception of the European Community and in the subsequent gradual strengthening of the Union, member states (the principals) agreed in general terms on their commitment to European integration but had differing preferences and did not trust one another to implement the national provisions that were needed for it. Consequently, delegating powers to independent supranational bodies that would enforce integration in the terms agreed on by the members was a necessary choice to ensure that each state did its part, even if it meant losing some level of sovereignty. In other words, according to Dehousse, on top of the need to reaffirm a commitment to integration, mistrust and conflict between multiple principles is another determining factor of delegation in the EU.

While supranational delegation through the treaties, what so far has been defined as "full delegation", is a major distinguishing feature of the study of delegation in the EU, it is equally important for the purposes of this thesis to discuss how the framework has been applied to the delegation of implementing powers for regular EU laws. Implementation of EU regulations is generally based on a principle of indirect administration, meaning that it is normally delegated to the national level, where enforcement is often the prerogative of national regulatory agencies (NRAs) (Simoncini, 2018). More rarely, administration can also take a direct form, where implementation is delegated to an EU-level institution, such as the Commission in the case of the DMA. Finally, implementation can also take the form of a hybrid model, where the Commission and national authorities share enforcement powers. Such is the case for the enforcement of EU competition law, which starting from the so called "Modernisation Regulation" (Regulation 1/2003) can either be enforced directly by the national competition authorities (NCAs), who in practice deal with the majority of cases, or by the Commission, depending on a case allocation mechanism coordinated within the European Competition Network (ECN). Interestingly, the Digital Services Act (DSA), the other regulation introduced together with the DMA as part of a wider EU digital strategy, adopted a model of implementation relatively similar to competition law (Van Cleynenbreugel, 2021), which is generally considered a successful model of administration that combines benefits from both centralisation and decentralisation and that the Commission itself has argued should be a template for EU regulation (Cengiz, 2010; Potocnik-Manzouri, 2021).

Several studies have attempted to determine which factors contributed to the path delegation would take for EU law implementation by formulating theoretical hypotheses based on P-A considerations and then

testing those hypotheses with datasets of EU legislative acts as empirical evidence. Since the DMA falls into this category, reviewing some of the findings of these studies should provide some insight into factors that may have influenced its chosen delegation path.

Franchino (2004) uses statistics to analyse an extensive dataset of 158 major EU legislative acts to test the effect on delegation paths of two main factors: decision rules and information intensity. First, he hypothesises that a higher degree of delegation and discretion for the Commission should be expected for legislation adopted under qualified majority voting in the Council, because in the former case the Commission, who presumably would attempt to increase its role as much as possible, could leverage the configuration of preferences in the Council to make proposals that favour more supranationalism and that are more likely to pass. On the other hand, for decisions taken under unanimity rules the preferences of the members most unwilling to give up powers to the EU level should prevail and therefore the expectation is that implementation will be delegated to the national level. Second, by information intensity he means the level and type of expertise required to implement a specific policy: his expectation is that delegation will be more likely in favour of the Commission for issues that require general managerial skills and more likely in favour of the member states for policies that require a high level of specific expertise. His statistical analysis of the dataset confirms his expectations and also finds that despite qualified majority voting increasing the role of the Commission in a given policy area, implementation is mainly delegated to the national level in the majority of cases, particularly when it requires a high level of expertise.

More recently, Migliorati (2021) builds on Franchino's work based on a more extensive data set of EU secondary legislation that encompasses the period between the Maastricht treaty and the year 2016. Her hypotheses on the effects of decision rules and information intensity, which she calls policy complexity, are the same, but in her study she also considers the role of two additional factors: previous supranational integration and conflict between principals. She argues that a high degree of supranational integration in a specific policy area should make further delegation to the supranational level, or at least a larger involvement of the supranational level in implementation, more likely (path dependence). Further, she infers that a higher level of preference heterogeneity between the multiple principles involved in delegation should lead to more delegation and wider discretion for the supranational level. Her study confirms Franchino's findings, adding some level of nuance where it finds that policy complexity is a strong predictor for the use of a multi-level system of governance for policy implementation which involves both the Commission and NRAs collaborating through an agency or network. It also shows that path dependence has an effect on new delegation choices and that conflict among principles generally leads to more discretion for the supranational level.

Having analysed some of the main contributions to the P-A literature in the European context, from which have emerged several explanatory factors that may be utilized to investigate the determinants of delegation in the DMA, the next section will analyse the multi-directional patterns of delegation in the European Union that have led to the current system of multi-level governance that is used for implementation

in most policy areas. The comparison with these patterns will establish why the DMA's case is an interesting outlier worthy of academic discussion and provide additional factors to consider in answering the research question.

2.3 Evolution of delegation in the EU: network governance and agencification

As was discussed in the previous section, delegation is a key and unique feature of the EU integration process. Up until the Maastricht Treaty, member states have progressively delegated more and more of their sovereignty to the supranational level in order to further integration. Starting from the late 90s, however, with EU regulation now operating in a wide variety of policy areas, rather than delegating new powers to the EU with each new legislative act, implementation has mainly been in the hands of NRAs. In order to attempt to ensure harmonised implementation of EU law across the entire Union, the Commission and the member states have gradually established a European administrative space composed of European regulatory networks (also called administrative networks) and European agencies, in which NRAs and the Commission collaborate, sharing useful data and developing best practices for implementation (Coen & Thatcher, 2008). Networks and agencies address the issue of implementing EU policies while simultaneously allowing member states not to have to give up more and more powers to supranational institutions. While from a functional point of view they have similar roles and objectives, agencies are relatively stronger institutions with their own legal identity and basis, as well as stronger powers and autonomy, and generally have a more supranational character compared to networks (Martinsen, Mastenbroek and Schrama, 2022).

EU agencies have developed in spite of the general principle of indirect administration that guides the implementation side of EU regulation, in response to the need for more uniformity. Despite their general objectives being similar, their formal powers and institutional design vary on a case-by-case basis, but what can be noticed is a trend of more and more agencies being established and stronger powers being delegated to them over time. Some agencies, called executive agencies, are created directly by the Commission and are designed to assist it in its executive roles, with strong supervision and clearly defined advisory tasks. On the other hand, a second kind of EU agency is decentralised, established with legislative acts and with more discretion in the role of ensuring uniform application of EU regulation by sharing information and fostering cooperation between the Commission and national authorities (Simoncini, 2018). Among these, Griller and Orator (2010) identify four different types, with progressively stronger formal powers: ordinary agencies, which exist only for cooperation and information sharing; pre-decision-making agencies, which on top of the more general role also had a large influence on Commission decisions with their own recommendations; decision-making agencies, which do not yet exist in the European administrative space but that would in theory be full EU-level regulators capable of making rules that would be binding in the whole Union.

The delegation of administrative tasks to EU-level institutions that have increasingly stronger formal powers and that have in some cases come to have a "quasi-rule-making" role raises an issue of legality within

the EU's system, as it is in conflict with the long standing non-delegation doctrine developed by the Court of Justice of the European Union (CJEU) in its landmark *Meroni* and *Romano* decisions (Simoncini, 2017). In these cases, the Court established that in the EU's legal order the principle of the balance of powers is a consequence of the principle of conferral, which only allows EU institutions to act within the limits of the powers and competences conferred upon them by the member states through the treaties (art. 5 TEU). As a corollary, in order to maintain the balance of power, the delegation of discretionary powers to authorities not expressly mentioned in the treaties would be incompatible with the EU's constitutional order. In other words, the EU was not allowed to delegate any rule-making competences to EU-level independent regulators and delegation to an agency could only be admissible if it was exclusively of administrative tasks, with clear rules on how agencies should operate and strict supervision by the EU.

However, as was outlined above, the process of agencification continued in spite of the constitutional concerns it might have raised, with agencies gaining more and more powers that increasingly approached de facto rule-making, gradually chipping away at the initial rigidity of the *Meroni* doctrine (Simoncini, 2017). In particular, the new European Supervisory Authorities, introduced in the aftermath of the Euro crisis to lead controls and harmonisation for the new reforms on supranational financial supervision, eventually forced the Court to re-address its non-delegation doctrine in a new landscape where agencification had fully taken place (Simoncini, 2021). In the *ESMA – short selling* case, somewhat softened its stance on delegation, acknowledging that agencies had been included in the included as legal actors in the treaties with the Lisbon Treaty (art. 298 TFEU) and recognising that the EU had the power to delegate administrative powers to agencies that go beyond the strict executive powers that were considered legitimate in *Meroni* and *Romano*, while still maintaining the general principle of *Meroni* that prevents delegation of a wide margin of discretion (Bergstrom, 2015; Simoncini, 2017). This softened stance not only legitimised a process that had already been happening, but also set the stage for further development of administrative agencies.

The establishment and proliferation of this model of network governance has been explained from both a functional and political perspective. In functional terms, delegating implementation to the national level allows to leverage the specific expertise of NRAs, which is necessary to efficiently enforce often highly technical EU policies, while creating a forum for collaboration with the Commission is useful to prevent excessive fragmentation (Martinsen, Mastenbroek and Schrama, 2022). At the same time, it has been noted that similar functional outcomes could also have been achieved with the establishment of powerful European regulators, to whom enough powers and resources could have been delegated to directly implement EU regulations. This alternative, however, was rejected by the member states, who in the post-Maastricht era have been particularly unwilling to give up more powers in favour of supranationalism (Coen & Thatcher, 2008; Ripoll Servent, 2018). Consequently, the increasing trend towards what has been termed "agencification" is also influenced by divergent preferences between the various principles involved in the creation of networks and agencies: member states are unwilling to give up more powers while the Commission would presumably prefer a supranational solution (Dehousse, 2013). In this sense, networks and agencies have been seen as a

political compromise between the national and supranational level, or in other words a second-best solution for both sides (Coen & Thatcher, 2008; Ripoll Servant, 2018; Martinsen, Mastenbroek & Schrama, 2022). Their nature as a compromise is further evidenced by the relative weakness of the formal powers that have been delegated to them, mostly consisting of soft law measures they can utilise: while they have had some positive effects in ensuring harmonisation, this is mainly due to their more informal role as forums in which NRAs can coordinate their efforts with the Commission, rather than because of their ability to directly influence the behaviour of national regulators (Coen & Thatcher, 2008; Dehousse, 2013; Martinsen, Mastenbroek & Schrama, 2022).

Despite the general agencification trend, which has also been interpreted as a relative crisis of supranationalism in favour of a more intergovernmental approach to EU governance (Dehousse, 2013), a notable exception can be found in the EU's response to the Euro-crisis, which consisted of major new powers being delegated to the Commission and to the ECB. Without going into too much detail, as what is interesting for this thesis is the reason why this exception to the rule might have happened, the Commission was given new and stricter powers in macroeconomic governance, particularly concerning the surveillance of national fiscal policy, while the ECB became the new supervisor of the entire European banking sector with the establishment of the banking union. Dehousse (2016), argues that despite a general political climate adverse to supranational delegation, in the highly charged crisis situation it came to be perceived by member states as the correct course of action because of a number of factors. First, the scope of the crisis itself created a strong political pressure to seek EU-wide solutions and the high political stakes created the perception for member states that regulatory integration was the best, or at least most immediately viable, solution to a pressing issue (Mathieu, 2020). Second, member states not only felt the pressure to find solutions, but also had growing conflicts between them on what the solutions should be and the differences in their preferences influenced the eventual decision to delegate new powers to the supranational level. Finally, the institutions themselves, the Commission and the ECB, played active roles in pushing for additional powers for themselves and shaped the form those powers would take: the Commission introduced the proposal for the reform in macroeconomic governance just at the right moment, when the political pressure to tackle the crisis was high and there was a sense of urgency, while the ECB, guided by its president at the time Mario Draghi, lobbied heavily for the introduction of the banking union and the single supervisory mechanism right when the Spanish banking system was on the brink of collapse and threatening spillover effects in the whole Euro-zone.

All these regulatory trends show how exceptional the centralisation of tasks on the Commission in the DMA is. The case of the DMA appears as an outlier which may contribute to expanding the literature on delegation of powers and EU governance. Furthermore, the two notable cases of supranational delegation in the post-Maastricht EU will provide further insights into what some of the factors that have shaped DMA delegation might be. The following section will briefly recap some of the main explanatory factors of delegation that emerge from the P-A literature and highlight which ones will be used for the purposes of this thesis.

2.4 How explanatory factors from the P-A framework can be used to answer the research question

This brief overview of the Principal-Agent framework has provided a series of explanatory factors that could be applied to the DMA's case of delegation to find whether they have influenced the decision to delegate new powers and give a high level of discretion to the Commission rather than opting for the more widely used option of network governance.

First, the general P-A literature provides functional reasons why delegation might happen. Powers may be delegated: because of the perception that an NMI, such as the Commission, would be the most efficient enforcer for the implementation of a specific policy; because policy implementation requires a high level of expertise that legislators do not have; or because delegation is useful to make a credible commitment to a policy vis-à-vis voters and stakeholders who have an interest in that policy. Further elements can be found in the application of the framework to the specific case of delegation in the EU. For instance, delegation to the supranational level may happen because member states make a credible commitment, towards the public but also towards each other, to the general project of supranational integration. Further, EU regulations that requires qualified majority voting in the Council rather than unanimity tend to have a larger role for the supranational level on the implementation and enforcement side. Path dependence is another important factor in EU delegation: it is more likely that further delegation of powers to the EU level will happen in policy areas in which there is already a higher level of supranational integration. Finally, all acts of delegation in the EU are shaped by the dynamics between the multiple principles involved and by the political climate in which a certain policy is being discussed and introduced: mistrust between principles can lead to more delegation and higher levels of discretion for EU institutions, while a political situation in which there are strong pressures to introduce an EU-level solution to a certain policy problem can create a sense of urgency that allows EU institutions to influence the policy process to carve out new powers for themselves.

The theoretical framework built in this chapter will be applied to the DMA case as follows.

Firstly, the role of path dependence and QMV will be disregarded to allow this thesis to focus on the factors that appear to be most relevant for this case, for the following reasons. First, with qualified majority voting becoming the norm in most policy areas, while it could be acknowledged that the type of delegation that happened with the DMA would have been less likely to happen if it was introduced with unanimity rules, this cannot be considered a distinguishing factor of the DMA itself and does not help to explain why it is such an exception in the general EU regulatory landscape. Second, path dependence is also not a strong factor in this case, as policy areas adjacent to the DMA (for instance the Digital Service Act and the General Data Protection Regulation) generally followed the network governance model. In fact, its going against path dependence is what makes the DMA an interesting case of delegation in the first place.

Secondly, chapter 3 will address the stated reasons for centralised enforcement in the DMA: the Commission itself, in its legislative proposal, argues that it was the most appropriate level of governance for implementing the regulation as it would be best equipped to deal directly with the multinational corporations that will be the regulatees (COM, 2020). According to this view, the main reasons why delegation to the

Commission would have happened in the DMA are functional: namely, efficiency and the need for specific expertise. This thesis will argue that these factors are not sufficient explanations for the DMA's rare case of supranational delegation, as centralisation of all powers in the Commission and the lack of a clear coordination mechanism with the national level create relevant issues and conflicts that might lead to inefficiency and fragmentation. In fact, if efficiency and policy complexity were the main concerns during the legislation process, a system of multi-level governance similar to what is employed in Competition Law enforcement and other EU regulations in similar sectors as the DMA, such as the GDPR and the DSA, would have been the most likely outcome.

Finally, having argued against the purely functional explanations of efficiency and policy complexity, chapter 4 will make the case that the need to make a credible commitment and project authority in the face of powerful tech giants, the sense of urgency and political pressure to address a major issue in one of the most important new economic sectors and the conflicting preferences of the principals were the main contributing factors that led to the delegation of new powers directly to the Commission with the DMA.

3. Why regulatory efficiency is not a sufficient explanation for the level of delegation to the Commission in the DMA: issues with centralised enforcement and implementation of the DMA

The main reason behind the introduction of the DMA is that in the digital economy a small number of large platforms are increasingly entrenched in their dominant position, which makes other businesses and consumers themselves increasingly dependent on their services as gateways to the digital markets (COM, 2020). To be more specific, the DMA is necessary because it prohibits a series of harmful practices by large digital companies operating that competition law enforcement has not been able to deter or correct: some of these practices fall out of the scope of competition law, because they do not directly involve an abuse of dominant position but are inherent to the dominant position itself, while others may be sanctioned under competition law but the length of the investigative procedures makes sanction ineffective, as big tech firms are often able to eliminate competition before the investigations are over and can therefore consider the monetary penalties as that monetary penalties "a cost of doing business" (Akman, 2021; Petit, 2021; Renda, 2022).

The existence and importance of the policy problems the DMA aims to address, and therefore the necessity of a specific EU-level regulation to tackle them, has been widely accepted both by scholars analysing the regulation during and after the legislative process as well as lawmakers, member states and other relevant authorities, notably the European Competition Network (ECN, 2021). However, what emerges from a review of the literature specifically dealing with the DMA is a general sense of doubt on whether the regulation's choice to delegate implementation entirely to the Commission and not provide clear mechanisms for cooperation with the national level, to coordinate with actions taken by national authorities in adjacent policy areas, might prevent it from being effective in practice (Carugati, 2021; Carugati, 2022; Colangelo, 2022; De Streel & Larouche, 2021; Renda, 2022). The main concerns, as this chapter will explore, are that the Commission does not have enough resources and expertise to efficiently implement the DMA and that without proper coordination with the national level there will be conflicts and overlaps that will not only increase fragmentation but also hurt the overall effectiveness of the new regulation. Therefore, the purely functional factors of regulatory efficiency and need for expertise are insufficient explanation for the choice to delegate new powers to the Commission with the DMA, as in fact this choice might lead to the opposite of efficiency.

This chapter will first provide a brief overview of the main elements of the DMA (section 3.1), then discuss the role of the Commission as the centralised regulator for the digital markets (section 3.2) and finally argue against the functional explanation by pointing out the issues caused by the delegation of its implementation to the Commission (section 3.3).

3.1 A brief overview of the key elements of the Digital Markets Act

The DMA's two main objectives are contestability and fairness in the digital markets. The regulation aims at eliminating barriers to entry to digital markets so that there can be a level playing field between digital gatekeepers and firms that may offer similar digital services and avoid unfairness in the relationship between gatekeepers and other business users in the digital markets (De Streel & Larouche, 2021). Another major objective is the harmonisation of national laws for the realisation of a functioning internal market in this specific sector (Larouche & De Streel, 2021). To achieve this goal, the DMA prohibits Member States from imposing additional obligations on gatekeepers in the digital sector that are aimed at ensuring fairness and contestability (Art. 1 DMA). In other words, the DMA is being positioned as a piece of sector-specific economic regulation that is intended to complement general competition law enforcement and the European and national levels (Akman, 2021).

The choice of using economic regulation in a specific economic sector to address certain structural problems that competition law has not been able to prevent is nothing new in EU law, with precedents in other sectors such as electronic communications, finance, cross-border mail services and more. However, the DMA distinguishes itself in that most sector-specific regulations assign enforcement directly to national authorities or to a shared system of multi-level governance between the Commission and the national authorities, whereas the DMA concentrates all enforcement power in the Commission (Larouche & De Streel, 2021).

The DMA's provisions do not encompass the entirety of digital services provided on the market, but only those that business users and consumers are almost required to utilize (Chirico, 2021). Article 2 of the DMA defines a list of ten "core platform services" to which the regulation will apply. These core platform services were selected because they are considered those more likely to generate the kind of entrenched position of power and consequent negative effects on contestability and fairness that the DMA was designed to counteract. The listed services are all characterised by the fact that they are multi-sided services, meaning they provide digital infrastructures which connect two or more groups of users, often for transactions between buyers and sellers, and because they are generally provided by a very limited number of large undertakings, which we may define as "digital platforms". Because of the characteristics of the core services, digital platforms achieve a high level of dominance in the market and are able to set terms and conditions unilaterally, which without regulation may lead to unfairness and dependency for other business users and for consumers (COM, 2020).

Beyond the identification of the core platform services, the scope of the DMA is further restricted by the concept of gatekeeping. That is to say that the obligations introduced by the DMA will not apply to any undertaking that provides one of the listed services, but only to those providers who are designated as gatekeepers, meaning users are forced to go through them to access the digital markets, according to some specific criteria. Article 3 outlines two alternative mechanisms for establishing whether an undertaking fits the criteria and is therefore designated as a gatekeeper. The default mechanism takes the form of a rebuttable presumption: an undertaking is automatically designated as a gatekeeper if it satisfies three quantitative

thresholds. Undertakings that do not satisfy the quantitative criteria may nevertheless be designated as gatekeepers according to a second procedure outlined by article 17 of the DMA, which empowers the Commission to designate a gatekeeper following a market investigation.

The core of the DMA's ambition to address the issue of gatekeeping in the digital markets is a series of prohibitions and prescriptions stipulated in articles 5 and 6 of the regulation that attempt to avoid or correct the most problematic behaviours identified in the sector. We may identify at least three broader aims they are designed to achieve by prohibiting or prescribing specific practices (Chirico, 2021). First, some obligations seek to empower consumers by ensuring their ability to make choices (Arts. 5(2), 5(5), 5(8), 6(3), 6(4), 6(9) DMA). Second, some obligations are designed to prevent gatekeepers from using their position of dominance to prevent fair competition in their relations with other business users (Arts. 5(3), 5(7), 6(2), 6(5), 6(7), 6(12) DMA). Third, certain obligations concern access, mobility and fair use of data and information, as well as transparency in the ways in which gatekeepers operate their core platform services (Arts. 5(2), 5(9), 5(10), 6(2), 6(8), 6(9), 6(11) DMA).

Interestingly, many of the obligations listed in the DMA can essentially be seen as codifications of past and even ongoing competition law proceedings against large companies operating in the digital markets (Facebook, Amazon, Google, etc...) at both the national and EU level (Akman, 2021). This makes it additionally surprising that the member states were willing to delegate all implementation to the Commission, because the DMA does not simply introduce new rules and assign enforcement powers to the EU-level, it directly prevents national authorities to act in areas that they were actively enforcing up until its introduction. Additionally, the level of discretionary power it provides to the Commission is extensive, as it allows it to avoid the lengthy procedural limitations it would have had to face if it attempted to address the behaviours prohibited by the DMA through competition law enforcement. The next section will expand of the powers delegated to the Commission.

3.2 The Commission as the centralised regulator for the digital markets

As opposed to the multi-level decentralised governance system of general competition law enforcement, as well as many other areas of EU law and regulation, and even to the Digital Services Act, the DMA opts for centralising all enforcement powers in the European Commission, which will become the central regulator for the digital markets (Larouche & De Streel, 2021). The logic behind this choice, according to the Commission's proposal (COM, 2020), is that the gatekeepers that the regulation is targeting will be relatively small in number and mostly operate on a global scale, which in the European context means that they are operating core platform services very similarly across multiple member states, which coupled with the need to avoid regulatory fragmentation makes the EU level the most appropriate level of governance to efficiently implement the DMA's rules (Monti, 2021).

First, the Commission designates gatekeepers with a decision after receiving their notification that they fit the quantitative criteria (Art. 3 DMA). In addition, the Commission will oversee the flexibility of the DMA

by using the market investigation tool to determine whether an undertaking that provides a core platform service but does not satisfy the quantitative criteria should nonetheless be designated as a gatekeeper, to examine the state of the digital markets to determine whether there are new digital services which should be included on the list of core platform services in article 2, whether there are new practices that should be addressed by including new obligations on gatekeeper or whether some of the obligations listed in articles 5 and 6 are no longer relevant and should be amended or removed (Arts 16-19 DMA). Furthermore, the Commission will be in charge of continuously monitoring compliance with the DMA's obligations and will also be the direct enforcer of the DMA towards the gatekeepers, through a series of increasingly restrictive corrective measures it has at its disposal (Van Cleyenbreugel, 2021; Arts. 21-26, 29-31 DMA).

The main element of decentralisation in the original DMA proposal is the requirement to create a Digital Markets Advisory Committee (DMAC) composed of representatives of all the member states to advise the Commission with non-binding opinions (Art. 50 DMA). The DMAC is intended as a forum for the Commission to gain some insight from the expertise available at the national level in order to implement the DMA effectively. However, the Committee will essentially be modelled after the comitology system, meaning in practice there will be no requirement for its members to be selected from the staff of NCAs, which would be able to provide useful expertise, and in many cases might be selected from national ministries (De Streel & Larouche, 2021). Despite the Council pushing for more decentralisation in DMA enforcement, that would include a direct role for national authorities (Andriychuk, 2021), the only compromise reached in this sense during the legislative process was the addition to the original draft text of a new article that obliges the Commission to establish a European High-Level Group of Digital Regulators (EHLGDR), which shall be composed of members from relevant European bodies and networks, but that will also exclusively have an advisory role (art. 40 DMA).

In contrast, the provisions of the DMA for the cooperation with member states to avoid regulatory fragmentation are fairly limited. The DMA is positioned as a piece of economic regulation that is intended to complement, not substitute, competition law enforcement in the digital sector. To safeguard complementarity and avoid overlaps and conflicts, the DMA prohibits member states from imposing further obligations on the designated gatekeepers that aim at contestability and fairness in the digital markets (Art. 1(5) DMA). However, it does not prevent member states from using their national laws to impose general obligations to safeguard competition that happen to also target the gatekeepers, nor does it stop them from enforcing national or European competition law rules vis-à-vis the same undertakings that will also be regulated by the DMA, nor, in principle, does it forbid member states from introducing sector-specific economic regulations at the national level that deal with the digital markets, as long as they are not specifically aiming for contestability and fairness, which are vague enough concepts to allow for interpretation (Colangelo, 2022; Falce, 2021).

The overall picture of the role assigned to the Commission by the DMA is that of a centralised regulatory body with extensive powers and discretion. However, due to the large asymmetries of information and resources between the Commission and the global corporations that will be designated as gatekeepers, as

well as the potential conflicts with national laws, the choice not to leverage the skills, expertise and resources of national regulators at all on the enforcement side and not to include stronger cooperation mechanisms may cause the DMA to not be implemented as effectively as it should, as will be argued in the next section.

3.3 Inefficiencies of centralisation at the Commission level

As was briefly pointed out in the previous section, what might prove to be a major hindrance to implementation will be the availability of the resources and expertise that will be necessary to enforce the DMA's many obligations vis-à-vis a powerful group of gatekeepers. In fact, it seems likely that asymmetries in information, resources and expertise between the Commission and the regulated gatekeepers will be the single most significant challenge for the effective enforcement of the DMA.

In order to face this challenge, the staff of DG Competition will only be increased with 80 new members of staff specifically entrusted with DMA enforcement with a budget of around 81 million euros for the 2021-2027 period. Compared to the substantial amount of resources gatekeepers will have at their disposal to resist enforcement, both financially and in terms of the legal and technical teams they can employ, this does not seem to be sufficient and may lead to enforcement either not being effective as a whole or to the Commission having to make choices between which obligations on which gatekeepers or which cases to enforce at the expense of others (Carugati, 2021). The limited resources available to the Commission on its own will most likely have a variety of negative effects on the enforcement of the DMA.

First of all, monitoring compliance over the obligations of articles 5 and 6 will be an extremely complex endeavour. Most of the harmful practices addressed by the DMA are operated by gatekeepers through complicated and constantly updating algorithms, programs and A.I. systems, which means the people in charge of enforcement will be required to have a high degree of specific expertise that will be difficult to find and that most current members of DG Competition are unlikely to have, especially in comparison to the teams of software engineers that gatekeepers employ (Renda, 2022). Monitoring is arguably one of the areas where the choice not to employ the resources and skills of national authorities is most surprising: not only because being closer to the day to day operations of gatekeepers in each respective member state they could have an effective role at identifying potential violations, but also because some of them have already been setting up teams of experts in big data and algorithms that would have the necessary expertise, all without the need to additionally increase the Commission's staff or budget (De Streel & Larouche, 2021).

The information asymmetries between Commission enforcers and gatekeepers will be significant, with undertakings operating in the digital markets collecting and having constant access to enormous amounts of data on the operation of their services and on their clients, both business users and end-users, which regulators will have a hard time handling despite their investigative powers. These information asymmetries will come into play in different ways. For example, while article 5 obligations will always be directly applicable without further intervention, the article 6 obligations will have to be specified by the Commission for each individual gatekeeper, which will happen "in regulatory dialogue" with the gatekeepers themselves. Given the

aforementioned asymmetry, this opens the door to a risk of regulatory capture, whereby undertakings are in such a strong position in comparison to the regulator that they are able to influence the specification process in their favour and make the obligation as small a burden on their operations as possible.

Another area in which the resources and staff the Commission will be able to employ for DMA enforcement may also be insufficient, and where it would seemingly be useful to involve national authorities as a complement, is in the main new tool introduced by the regulation: the market investigations (De Streel & Larouche, 2021; Van Cleynenbreugel, 2021). Market investigations are a tool introduced by the DMA that the Commission may utilize to designate new gatekeepers, introduce new obligations or core platform services covered by the regulation or determine whether a gatekeeper is in systemic non-compliance with the regulation. The digital sector is constantly and rapidly evolving, so being able to keep the DMA's provisions up to date will be essential to its long-term effectiveness. If the Commission's resources are insufficient to react efficiently to changing conditions, the DMA could become obsolete very quickly. Gatekeepers could potentially be able to find new ways to exploit their position as operators of core platform services that circumvent the limitations imposed on them by the DMA faster than the Commission is able to adapt the regulation to new practices. Further, even market investigations into systemic non-compliance may be affected by the need to be selective on how to employ available staff and resources, as well as the ability for gatekeepers to use their massive resources to resist enforcement. It does not seem too difficult to foresee a more prominent role for national authorities in this aspect as well: under the Commission's direction, they could carry out the investigation in each respective member state, whether it is for adapting the DMA or into systemic noncompliance, and then this information could be gathered by the central regulator to more rapidly compile an overall analysis of the market conditions in the EU as a whole.

Beyond the problems that centralisation may generate to the enforcement of the DMA itself, which may prevent it from fully achieving its goals of contestability and fairness in the digital markets, a second set of issues arise from the limited provisions for cooperation with member states, which may cause regulatory fragmentation by not preventing overlaps and conflicts between the DMA, competition law and other areas of national legislation.

As was mentioned, the DMA expressly prohibits Member States from introducing additional obligations on gatekeepers aimed, like the DMA, at ensuring contestability and fairness in the digital markets (Art. 1(5) DMA). However, as long as they do not directly target designated gatekeepers for the same reasons as the DMA, Member States are free to regulate the digital markets with their national competition laws, laws on economic dependence or sector-specific regulations to introduce rules and obligations that happen to also affect gatekeepers (Colangelo, 2022). Without stronger cooperation mechanisms that ensure complementarity between the DMA and national legislation, this may lead to multiple sets of rules applying to gatekeepers and even to situations in which they conflict with each other, making it impossible for gatekeepers to comply with all of them at the same time (Falce, 2021). When such a situation arises, DMA obligations should prevail over national rules to avoid fragmentation, but in order for this to happen efficiently there should be a clear

mechanism or forum for cooperation that either prevents conflicts from appearing in the first place or resolves issues once they present themselves (De Streel & Larouche, 2021).

The first, and arguably most obvious, area of potential conflict between the DMA and national legislation is competition law. The similarities between competition law and the DMA, which as was stated based most of its obligations on practices that emerged from completed or ongoing competition law enforcement proceedings, will almost inevitably create situations of conflict (Komninos, 2022). Not only will the contents of national competition laws targeting anti-competitive behaviour in the digital markets, which member states will be free to introduce as long as they are in compliance with article 101 and 102 TFEU, potentially be similar, but there may well even be cases of parallel enforcement, where NCAs and the Commission open proceedings on the same undertakings at the same time to determine whether they violated competition law or the DMA (Colangelo, 2022).

Another specific area of national law that may cause overlap issues is legislation on economic dependence. Several member states, such as, among others, France, Belgium, Germany and Italy, have rules that specifically target the abuse of economic dependence by a large undertaking in its bilateral relations with smaller business partners (Carugati, 2022). The concept of economic dependence refers to situations in which large companies, that may or may not have a general position of absolute market power in the sense that is intended under competition law, are in a strong enough position of advantage in their bilateral business relations that they might be able to unilaterally set unfair terms and conditions on their business partners, who on the other hand are dependent on the service or product provided by the larger firms because of exceedingly high costs of switching or the unavailability of alternatives (Colangelo, 2022). While laws that forbid the exploitation of these positions in business relationships do not specifically target the digital sector, it is easy to see the similarity between the DMA's new concept of "gatekeeping" and the concept of "abuse of economic dependence" and how these national rules could apply to designated gatekeepers, leading to overlapping sets of rules regulating similar behaviour and potentially causing many instances of parallel enforcement.

One final area of potential conflict, which might turn out to be the most problematic of all, is in possibility that member states could introduce sector-specific rules that directly deal with digital markets and even with online platforms While article 1(5) DMA forbids national laws that target gatekeepers with obligations aimed at achieving contestability and fairness, in practice it will be challenging to determine whether a national law that deals with anti-competitive behaviour by online platforms falls into those criteria or not, especially if the rules are positioned as part of general competition legislation (Carugati, 2022).

Such is the case, in what constitutes a major example of regulatory fragmentation, for the new provisions regarding large undertakings operating in the digital sector introduced by the German Parliament with the 10th amendment to the German national antitrust law (Carugati, 2022). This new amendment empowers the Bundeskartellamt (the German competition authority) to identify which firms in the digital markets should be deemed "of paramount importance for competition across markets" and imposes a series of ex-ante rules on such firms that are almost identical to those of the DMA from a functional standpoint

(Colangelo, 2022). Even though these new provisions introduced in Germany would seem, at first glance, to be in direct violation with article 1(5) of the DMA, their positioning as an extension of national competition law, which formally aims at protecting a different legal interest than contestability and fairness, will make it really difficult for the Commission to argue that it violates what member states are allowed to do under the DMA (Colangelo, 2022). On top of the obvious conflict between the national and European provisions that does not seem to have, as it stands, a clear path towards resolution, it should also be noted that the German amendment has been in effect since January 2021, predating the DMA's final approval by over a year, and the Bundeskartellamt has already designated Google as one of the undertakings targeted by the new rules, with ongoing proceedings for the potential designation of Facebook Meta, Amazon and Apple (Carugati, 2022). In other words, Germany had already been enforcing rules on large digital platforms before the DMA had even officially entered into force, with no clear understanding on how uniformity would be maintained between the two pieces of legislation. Simultaneously, other member states (Italy, Greece, Austria) have been considering taking the German approach as an example for their own national laws, which would lead to additional fragmentation (Colangelo, 2022).

In addition, if the need for specific expertise for the technical implementation of the DMA was a major factor, the more likely choice would have been to leverage the knowledge and experience that National Competition Authorities have acquired over the years. In a study that analysed publicly available data on the enforcement or advocacy actions carried out by NCAs in the digital sector in the period between 2010 and 2021, Carugati (2021) found that NCAs have been operating in the digital sector and building expertise for a number of years, with over 180 actions being carried out in the period that was analysed, of which a little over 40% were enforcement cases, antitrust or merger control, and a little under 60% were advocacy actions, such as articles, market investigations, reports, position papers. What this shows is that NCAs have been engaging with competition issues in the digital economy in many instances, focusing on different areas such as issues surrounding digital platforms (many of which will be gatekeepers under the DMA), as well as e-commerce and online advertising (which are areas that will be regulated by many DMA obligations), and thus building and refining specific expertise over years of practice. It should also be noted that the amount of yearly cases has been steadily increasing, with over 85% of actions having been carried out from 2017 to 2021, meaning NCAs have been more and more willing and, crucially, able to engage with the digital economy.

The analysed data, however, did show some differences in the amount of engagement, and therefore in the level of expertise built up over the years, of different NCAs. For instance, the German and French national authorities led all NCAs in the overall number of actions and there is also evidence of certain NCAs building specific expertise by specialising in one area of the digital economy over the others, with France, for example, representing 57% of all actions undertaken in the area of online advertising. However, most NCAs have engaged in at least a few actions in the digital economy over the years and have developed at least some skills, for instance relating to smaller local platforms that may elude the general scope of larger cases. The data is also evidence that, having operated in the digital economy for years, NCAs have not only developed skills but

also built up resources that could be leveraged to increase the amount of overall staff dedicated to DMA enforcement.

If, as Carugati's (2021) study suggest, national competition authorities, though to varying degrees across member states, have the necessary requirements, skills and resources, to actively participate in DMA enforcement, then considering the problems centralisation may cause that have been discussed above, it would seem to indicate that the choice to not give them a larger role in the DMA's institutional design by delegating all implementation to the Commission could not have been made if efficiency and expertise were the primary concerns during the legislative process. If that was the case, the expectation would have been that a system of multi-level network governance would have been created, in which the Commission might have remained the central and principal regulator for the digital markets, but with additional NCA involvement, in complementary roles, becoming a major factor in the potential achievement of the DMA's goals: DG Competition could have leveraged the staff and skills of the NCAs to quickly increase its ability to effectively enforce the DMA, making the goals of contestability and fairness in the digital markets more achievable, and improve coordination with other areas of national law, improving regulatory harmonisation for the digital sector. National authorities, being closer than DG Comp to the daily operations of gatekeepers in each respective market, could have been particularly useful for monitoring compliance and receiving complaints from business and end users, as well as in assisting the Commission in market investigation by collecting and elaborating data from each economy to be compiled with the data from all the other markets, thus making the process more efficient. Furthermore, specific NCAs could also have been directly involved in cases where they have developed targeted expertise over years of engagement with a specific area of the digital economy or when there is a case that requires knowledge related to local dynamics, businesses and conditions.

Not only do all these potential issues with centralised enforcement that may cause inefficient implementation emerge from most scholarly articles on the DMA, but perhaps more importantly they were also acknowledged by various EU-level and national officials before and after the regulation received its final approval, making it even more puzzling that this level of delegation to the Commission was accepted in the first place.

One major group who recognised these problems were the NCAs themselves, who during the legislative process for the DMA published a joint paper through the ECN arguing that the Commission on its own would not have the sufficient resources or expertise to "ensure its effectiveness and complementarity with competition enforcement" (ECN, 2021). In the same paper, the ECN, while acknowledging that because of the nature of the behaviours and regulatees targeted by the regulation the Commission should be in the lead in terms of enforcement, argues that the expertise of national authorities would significantly improve DMA implementation and coordination with other national policies if a system closer to the more common network governance model was adopted instead of delegating all powers to the EU level. On top of this joint action, individual heads of NCAs repeatedly lobbied for a more prominent role in DMA implementation.

But it was not just the NCAs, that it might be argued could have a somewhat biased position on the matter given that they would be the ones losing powers to the Commission, that pointed out these problems. For instance, Andreas Schwab, the MEP who led the debate on the DMA in the European Parliament which eventually led to its approval, wrote a letter to the Czech Republic (which at the time held the rotating EU presidency) expressing concern over the limited resources allocated for DMA enforcement. He argued that the new staff of DG Competition hired for DMA enforcement should be at least doubled, otherwise the achievement of the DMA's objectives might be in serious jeopardy, which in his view would cause "irreversible damage to the digital single market" (Espinoza, 2022a).

Additionally, the Commission itself, while always holding firm on its view that centralised enforcement was the optimal option for the DMA, has shown its concern over the possibility of regulatory fragmentation. Commissioner Margrethe Vestager, who together with commissioner Henry Breton was the lead on the legislative proposal for the DMA, expressed this concern by pointing out that France, Germany, Denmark and Austria had all been working on their own national legislation that would tackle very similar issues as the DMA, which would lead to widespread fragmentation (Espinoza, 2021a). The literature on the DMA analysed in this thesis agrees with this assessment by the Commission, but as was pointed out above it will be challenging in practice to prevent member states from applying their own laws tackling digital platforms, especially if they are introduced within national competition law. In fact, while the conflict between the Commission and NCAs on how much of a role they should have in DMA implementation went in favour of the Commission during the legislative process, NCAs continued to argue that national laws would not lead to fragmentation and that member states had every right to introduce their own laws tackling big digital platforms, with the head of the German authority, Andreas Mundt, saying that only "those who don't want national competition agencies to have a say" would talk about fragmentation (Espinoza & Solomon, 2021) and the head of the Dutch authority, Martijn Snoep, calling the choice to centralise enforcement a "political decision" (Espinoza, 2022a). In other words, it would seem that the battle on who should be able to regulate big tech has moved past DMA implementation, with member states continuing to introduce their own rules.

Prior to the official proposal of the regulation, the expectation was that EU countries would be unwilling to give up new powers to the Commission (Espinoza, 2020b) and during the legislative process the Council, representing the member states, even attempted to introduce a decentralised model of implementation with its own version of the draft regulation (Andriychuk, 2021). Yet, regardless of the concerns over lack of resources and expertise and over conflicts between the DMA and national law, and despite the initial opposition from the Council, the decision was ultimately made to delegate all implementation to the Commission anyway. This section leads to the conclusion that a purely functional explanation for this delegation choice is insufficient: not only are regulatory efficiency and the need for expertise not strong explanatory factors for this unusual case of delegation, but in fact it seems likely that the delegation itself will lead to an inefficient application of the DMA. The next chapter will focus on the factors that contributed to the decision to centralise competence on the commission, and in particular: the conflict between the multiple

principals involved, the political pressure to address a complex and pressing policy problem and the need to make a strong commitment to the new policy in the face of the powerful digital players that are targeted by the new regulation.

4. How political pressure, credible commitment and conflict between principals have contributed to the decision to delegate new powers to the Commission

The Digital Markets Act was first proposed by the Commission on 15 December 2020, together with the Digital Services Act, and was officially approved on 14 September 2022. During that two-year period, the initial draft text received a series of amendments, but most of them regarding technical issues such as the scope of the regulation and the procedural rules that the Commission would have to follow in its new role. The initial proposal by the Commission that new and exclusive powers should be delegated essentially remained intact, with the aforementioned (section 3.2) and relatively minor exception of the introduction of the EHLGDR. That is not to say, however, that the Commission simply acted as its own principal and that the Council and Parliament passively accepted its proposal. In fact, objections to the unusual proposal to centralise all enforcement in the Commission were raised both at the EU and national level, based on all the potential problems that this might cause as was argued in the previous chapter. Nevertheless, not only did the Council and Parliament eventually decide to accept this new delegation, but they did so with overwhelming support for the final text of the regulation: the Council approved the text unanimously and the EP with a resounding 588 votes to 11, with 31 abstentions (Council, 2022; EP, 2022a and 2022b).

This thesis so far has argued against the merely functional explanation that the EP and Council (and therefore the member states) decided to delegate new exclusive powers to the Commission because of regulatory efficiency and policy complexity, establishing that centralised enforcement would potentially lead to inefficient implementation of the DMA, that the Commission could not have the highly technical expertise necessary to enforce the regulation, especially in the face of powerful regulatees, and that these problem were fully known to all relevant authorities and institutions. But if this is the case, other factors must have contributed to the final decision reached by the EP and Council.

This chapter will argue that the decision to delegate DMA implementation almost exclusively to the Commission was ultimately influenced by the intense political pressure to find an EU-level solution to an increasingly pressing policy problem - the entrenched position of tech giants that was becoming structural to the digital markets, destroying competition and harming consumers - which went hand-in-hand with the need to make a credible commitment to a strong new digital policy in the face of powerful regulatees, and it will also make the case that another important explanatory factor are the dynamics of mistrust and conflict between essential institutions during the legislative process, which ultimately went in favour of the compromise that allowed the Commission to retain its proposal for new powers intact. To do so, it will first reconstruct the main steps of the DMA's legislative process that led to its eventual approval using official documents and Financial Times reporting as sources (section 4.1), then it will use this reconstruction as evidence and refer back to the P-A literature to argue that the three identified explanatory factors were important contributing factors that led to the decision to delegate new powers to the Commission (section 4.2).

4.1 The DMA's legislative process

The inception of the idea for the DMA initially came from a report titled "Competition Policy for the digital era" in which the authors, three academics chosen as special advisers by the Commission, outline how the EU's competition policy should evolve to tackle the growing challenges presented by the digital sector (Montjoye, Schweitzer & Cémer, 2019). The report was commissioned directly by Margrethe Vestager, who at the time of its publication was at the end of a five-year term as competition commissioner, during which she had built a reputation for the EU as a leader in the enforcement of antitrust rules against the powerful big tech corporations that dominate the digital economy (Brunsden & Espinoza, 2019). Despite Vestager's efforts, worth tens of billions of euros in fines directed at big tech, the growing concern among EU officials was that due to the specific conditions of the digital markets these large companies had become so entrenched in their dominant positions - and therefore able to leverage their power to set unfair market conditions for competitors as well as use their access to private data to manipulate consumers - that they could see fines as a cost of doing business (Toplensky & Murgia, 2019). The report confirmed these fears, finding that despite tough antitrust enforcement big tech companies were incentivised to engage in anti-competitive behaviour in the digital markets and recommending that the EU should modify its strategy to directly address the problem, for instance by reversing the burden of proof and obliging platforms to demonstrate that their operations are not harmful for competition or consumers, rather than the EU having to prove every time that a behaviour is harmful on a case-by-case basis and with the lengthy procedures of competition law enforcement (Montjoye, Schweitzer & Cémer, 2019). This report was a key catalyst for what would eventually turn into the DMA proposal, as it identified key problems and behaviours in the digital markets that needed to be addressed beyond the traditional application of competition law.

Meanwhile, the EU was finding itself under public scrutiny and in the difficult position of having to admit the ineffectiveness of its attempt to curb big tech's anti-competitive behaviour. With her second mandate about to start, Vestager warned large digital firms that she would go beyond fines and look into behavioural remedies "in order for competition to come back in a market that has been plagued with illegal behaviour" (Espinoza, 2019). While this was an attempt to present a renewed willingness to address antitrust issues in the market, it was also an admission that competition law enforcement, at least in the ways it had been applied to the sectors so far, had been ineffective. In fact, representatives of a law firm that had represented complainants in a case against Google regarding mobile search engines, while welcoming the new wider scope of future enforcement, pointed out that by the time the lengthy procedures of EU competition law had imposed fines the company had already eliminated competition entirely for that specific service (Espinoza, 2019). Not long after, the European Court of Auditors (ECA) published a special report on the Commission's antitrust operations, where it found that antitrust action had not been able to prevent distortion to competition in the digital sector, where ex-post enforcement has not prevented large digital firms from eliminating competitors: in the ECA's view, in the digital economy firms "compete for a market instead of in a market" (ECA, 2020, p. 29), which leads to winner-takes-all outcomes in which individual companies become the only providers of

specific platform services, which business-users and consumers are then completely dependent on. (ECA, 2020). The ECA even mentions the potential benefit of having ex-ante rules preventing behaviours that distort competition in the digital markets, which is of course what the DMA would eventually be introducing.

Simultaneously, outside of its shortcomings on competition law, the EU was also having to account for criticism of the lack of major fines being imposed for violation of the first major piece of legislation introduced as a part of its wider digital strategy to curb the harmful behaviour of tech giants, the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). The EU initially argued that even without fines the regulation was a deterrent for big tech companies (Kahn, 2019), but later an internal EU document surfaced where officials admitted that implementation of the GDPR had been challenging, especially because of a lack of harmonised enforcement across the Union (Espinoza, 2020d). These implementation difficulties could also have influenced the decision by the Commission to centralise enforcement in the case of the DMA, as it was finding that delegating to national authorities had been ineffective in this sector. In fact, right before the official publication of the draft regulation, another internal document stated that up until then the policing of large digital platforms had been "uncoordinated and ineffective" and that the patchwork of national-level laws attempting to deal with platforms had actually given tech giants an additional "competitive advantage" over the competition (Espinoza, 2020a).

With mounting pressure to find an EU-level solution to the issues of the digital economy, the Commission became convinced that ex-post competition law enforcement was no longer sufficient and decided to introduce ex-ante behavioural rules to prevent digital platforms from exploiting their structural position on their digital markets. To add to the sense of urgency that was felt at the time, the Commission also feared the negative effects in terms of fragmentation of member states introducing their own laws addressing similar issues to the DMA before EU-level rules could be established. At the time, Germany had already proposed its own digital law, that would eventually turn into the 10th amendment to its national competition law, which as discussed above is a major case of national law overlapping with the DMA (section 3.3), and it was expected that other members would take this as an example to follow (Chazan, 2020).

In the lead up to the proposal, as it became known that the Commission was drafting new rules for large platforms in the digital markets, different actors expressed their views on the upcoming regulations. For instance, France and the Netherlands, which interestingly had not always agreed on tech regulation before then, published a joint statement in which they called for Brussels to take decisive action against digital gatekeeper platforms, specifically mentioning the harm caused by their entrenched dominant position (Espinoza & Kahn, 2020). The EP also weighed in with a variety of recommendations, from giving as many protections to consumers making purchases on online platforms as they would have in physical shops to suggesting that the upcoming regulations should focus primarily on introducing clear behavioural rules for the largest digital firms (Espinoza, 2020c). On the other hand, big tech companies, while publicly presenting themselves in support of homogenised rules for the digital economy in the whole Union, started gearing up their lobbying efforts against new asymmetrical that would specifically target them and not their smaller

competitors. For example, Booking.com chief executive Glenn Fogel stated that new rules would "hobble" its business and that its sector has healthy competition, despite Statista showing that Booking had a 67.7% share of the European online travel agency market (Espinoza, Khan & Hancock, 2020). Meanwhile, an internal report from Google was leaked to the press, in which the company outlined a lobbying plan to specifically target and undermine key officials on the new regulations, such as commissioner Breton, in an effort to weaken support for the upcoming proposals, as well as proposing to seek alliances with other tech giants for stronger opposition to the new rules (Espinoza, 2020e).

It was in this charged political climate that the Commission first introduced the DMA proposal on 15 December 2020, which was received positively by stakeholders outside of the potentially targeted tech companies in terms of its objectives, scope and content. While national governments and the EP had already expressed a favourable view of the new proposals before they were even officially introduced, it should also be noted that actors that would not be directly involved in the legislative procedure generally praised the EU's initiative: first, companies operating in the digital markets, such as Spotify, welcomed the new rules, commenting that there was a consensus among business users that gatekeeper platforms were leveraging their positions to harm competition and even slow down innovation; second, legal experts and academics argued in favour of the shift away from case-by-case ex-post enforcement, hoping that ex-ante rules would lead to more efficient regulation of the sectors; finally, consumer groups, such as the leading Bureau Europèen des Unions de Consommateurs (Beuc), focused on the benefits that behavioural rules would have on consumer protection, which had not been sufficient under the previous competition law framework (Espinoza & Hindley, 2020). At the same time, despite what seemed like a general agreement on the objectives of the DMA, the Council and EP would now have to look at the details of the draft regulation and form their counter-proposal, while the reaction from big tech companies was expectedly negative, so it was clear that the process that would lead to the approval of the regulation would be relatively long and complex: the Commission was fully aware that lobbying efforts from large tech firms would be massive and expected resistance from member states on the proposed institutional design of the regulation (Espinoza, 2020b).

The period before the Council and EP would publish their official opinions was relatively long, lasting over six months. Vestager herself publicly expressed her frustration on the delays caused by infighting within the EP over which committee should be in charge of first debating the proposal, especially because pressure on the EU was still rising: while Parliament was debating on who had competence instead of on the content of the draft text itself, more countries had began the process of introducing their own DMA-like laws and at the same time competitor companies on the digital markets were lobbying the EU heavily to push the regulation through, fearing that competition could end up being eliminated completely in the sector before it even came into force (Espinoza, 2021a and 2021b). As was shown by the aforementioned special advisor report, if national governments were able to introduce their own laws before the DMA was approved, which would be the case for the German law, the resulting regulatory fragmentation would benefit big tech firms, who would be able to leverage their extensive resources against national authorities and create a competitive advantage

against smaller firms (Montjoye, Schweitzer & Cémer, 2019). Meanwhile, excessive delays could curb the DMA's effectiveness as a whole because it could not prevent further distortion of competition if by the time it came into force there was no competition left in the digital markets. These two factors contributed to a growing sense of urgency: the DMA had to be pushed through as fast as possible or it would not be able to achieve its objectives.

Eventually, it was decided that discussion of the DMA in the EP would be led by the Internal Market and Consumer Protection Committee (IMCO), chaired by MEP Andreas Schwab, of the EPP. IMCO's first report and draft proposal was published on 1 June 2021 (EP-IMCO, 2021a), a little over six months after the initial proposal, with the expectation that it would set the tone for the tough debates that would follow on the contents of the DMA (Espinoza, 2021c). Schwab's draft report would then undergo a series of debates and amendments in the EP and it would eventually be approved as a draft regulation on 30 November 2021 (EP-IMCO, 2021b). While the EP as a whole generally pushed for even stricter obligations compared to the initial Commission proposal, the main issue that sparked the months-long internal debates were the criteria for designating gatekeepers (Espinoza, 2021e). Schwab's initial draft report wanted the quantitative thresholds for designation to be raised significantly compared to the Commission's draft, from €65bn to €100bn in market capitalisation and from €6.5bn to €10bn in turnover over the past three years (EP-IMCO, 2021a), so that the regulation would only target the five largest firms, whereas other groups in parliament wanted the target to be closer to the Commission's initial idea of targeting around twenty companies with the new obligations (Espinoza, 2021e). A compromise on this main issue was eventually reached, with the proposed threshold being set at €80bn (EP-IMCO, 2021b). However, more interestingly for the purposes of this thesis, the EP seemed willing to agree on the delegation of exclusive enforcement powers to the Commission, only adding to the initial draft the establishment of the EHLGDR, which it considered a sufficient element of cooperation between the Commission and the member states, despite there being no direct involvement on their part in implementing the regulation (Andriychuk, 2021; EP-IMCO, 2021b).

Where there would be stronger opposition to centralisation, as expected, was in the position of the member states. The first evidence of this pushback was in the progress report published by the Council on 17 May 2021, in which the main representative of the member states at the EU-level, while also expressing a general agreement with the objectives of the DMA and even with the central role that should be given to the Commission in its implementation, underlined that a majority of members called for direct roles for national authorities "in the opening of market investigations, market monitoring and in the decision-making procedure" as well as identifying the need to clarify the mechanisms for cooperation between the Commission and member states (Council, 2021b). Moreover, on 22 June 2021, only a little over a month after the Council's first progress report, the heads of the NCAs of the EU published a joint paper through the ECN (already mentioned in section 3.3), in which they first argued that the effective implementation of the DMA would benefit greatly from utilising the resources and expertise of the national authorities, accumulated over the course of years of practice and that the Commission could not replicate on its own, and then went on to propose that the DMA should be

enforced following the well-established system of multi-level governance used for competition law enforcement, under which NCAs would directly participate in enforcement and the Commission would have a central supervisory role and directly enforce the regulation itself when appropriate (ECN, 2021). This proposal would prove to be influential, at least initially, as when the Council published its general approach and draft version of the regulation on 16 November 2021, it proposed an enforcement system very much in line with the ECN's joint paper (Council, 2021a)

However, despite presenting a united front in terms of their opposition to centralised enforcement of the DMA, there is some evidence to suggest that member states might not have been as in tune with each other as it might have seemed. First, there is the fact that many countries at this point, including Germany, France, Denmark and Austria, were all in the process of introducing their own national laws directed at the behaviours of digital gatekeepers (Carugati, 2022; Espinoza, 2021a), which could be interpreted as member states trying to anticipate the EU so that they could each have their own preferred set of rules for the digital markets, rather than putting all their efforts into finding a common solution to the policy problem and lobbying even harder for a direct involvement of national authorities. Second, there is the issue of mistrust and even open tensions emerging between NCAs on issues related to the enforcement of EU rules in the digital sector.

This tension first emerged indirectly, when French minister for the digital economy Cedric O met with senior EU officials and MEPs in February 2021 to propose a change to the enforcement mechanism of the DSA, which differently from the DMA would be enforced directly by national authorities: rather than simply following a case-allocation mechanism similar to the one used for competition law enforcement - according to which each individual case is assigned to the most "well-placed authority", which generally is the authority of the country where the case is first filed (Cengiz, 2010) - France wanted each member to be given the power to enforce the DSA in any territory of the Union (Abboud & Espinoza, 2021). While this proposal was for an entirely different regulation from the DMA and did not directly single out other national authorities, it does not require too much speculation to tie it to the wider criticisms of enforcement of competition law in the digital sector and of the GDPR, which also employs a similar case-allocation system, that France had expressed in the past (Espinoza & Kahn, 2020). Because of the fact that many tech giants have their European legal headquarters in Ireland, cases against them under competition law or the GDPR are often allocated to the Irish authorities, which have been criticised for their unwillingness to impose strong corrective measures (Kahn, 2019). The French proposal did not ultimately affect the DSA's enforcement system, but it is relevant as evidence of mistrust between member states that what the French minister was essentially proposing was that other national authorities should be given the power to circumvent what would have been the well-placed authority under the case-allocation system, often in Ireland, if they deemed that they would be able to enforce the regulation more strictly.

But even more evidence of this mistrust would emerge only a month after the French proposal, this time much more explicitly: as Javier Espinoza of the Financial Times put it at the time, "long-simmering tensions over Ireland's regulation of Big Tech have burst out into the public" (Espinoza, 2021d). In March

2021, the EP's Civil Liberties Committee (LIBE) voted to name and shame the data protection authorities of Ireland and Luxembourg for their weak enforcement of the GDPR (Espinoza, 2021d). But more importantly as evidence of division among member states, only a week later the head of Germany's data protection authority Ulrich Kelber wrote to the EP to openly criticise Ireland for not addressing any of the more than 50 complaints that the German authority had forwarded to Ireland and for its general slowness in closing the numerous cases that fell under its competence: Kelber specifically pointed out that of the 196 GDPR cases assigned to Ireland it had only closed 4, while Germany had already closed 56 of its 176 (Espinoza, 2021d). While it needs to be pointed out once again that these criticisms were not directly related to the DMA, which at this point was still in its approval process, they do show a lack of cohesion between national authorities, or in other words a lack of trust in the ability and willingness of certain countries to enforce regulations regarding the digital economy up to a sufficient standard. Ultimately, if they could not be able to push for an enforcement system similar to the one proposed by the French minister, they might have become willing to accept the Commission's proposal to delegate all implementation to the EU level in the case of the DMA as a second-best solution, rather than having to put their trust in other members that they were sceptical of.

Indeed, going back to the legislative procedure, in November 2021 the draft regulations proposed by the EP and the Council still differed substantially in their proposed enforcement mechanisms, with the Council pushing for direct implementation by NCAs (Andriychuk, 2021), but these differences would be ironed out relatively quickly in the months of trialogues that would follow, with member states eventually accepting that enforcement would be entirely delegated to the Commission. At this point in the process, with approval seemingly not too far off in the future, the pressure on lawmakers and member states to reach a compromise and finally introduce the new rules was at an all time high. Vestager once again leveraged the political strength of the Commission to publicly urge the other the EU legislators to push the regulation through as quickly as possible, arguing that time was of the essence, as the new rules were necessary to prevent competition in the digital markets from being completely eradicated by big tech, and that a "very good law" being introduced now would be more beneficial to its goals than a "perfect law" introduced too late (Espinoza, 2021f).

Meanwhile, big tech companies were attempting a final push to soften the upcoming regulations. In general, according to the EU's lobbying transparency data, Google, Facebook, Microsoft and Apple were all ranked in the top ten list of Europe's corporate lobbyists, with a combined 594 meetings with EU officials and a combined lobbying budget of around €20mn (Espinoza, 2022d). But in particular, Google significantly ramped up its lobbying action, both directly and through sector organisations, such as the Connected Commerce Council, which also represent other tech giants: Google started increasing its direct meetings with high level officials, including Vestager, and MEPs started reporting that they had seen a significant increase in the amount of emails from representatives of tech giant and that they were even being targeted on their social media accounts with ads from tech lobby groups (Espinoza, 2022c). However, not only did these efforts not have the intended effect, but the sudden increase in lobbying attempts seem to have been detrimental to big tech, with leading MEP Andreas Schwab taking it as a demonstration that tech giants were worried about the

new rules, which showed that the upcoming regulations were in a good position to succeed in their objectives (Espinoza, 2022c).

This perception that the companies that would be designated as gatekeepers under the DMA in the future were fearful of the upcoming rules was another incentive for legislators to come to a compromise and finally approve the regulation. And in fact, the trialogue between the Commission, the Council and the EP found its resolution relatively soon, with reports that already in March 2022 the three institutions had come to an agreement on most of the details of the final text: the Council had finally given up on its efforts to introduce national implementation to the DMA, accepting the compromise of the EHLGDR, and most of the final debates were on the gatekeeper designation criteria, similarly to what had happened the previous year within the EP (Espinoza, 2022b). The final provisional agreement between the EP and Council was on 12 May 2022 (EP-IMCO, 2022), and the two institutions would then approve the final text of the DMA with overwhelming support only a few months after that (as mentioned in section 3.3).

This rundown of the legislative process that led to the final approval of the DMA already provides some insights into how the political pressure to solve an urgent policy problem, the need to make a credible commitment in the face of the future regulatees and the mistrust and conflict between some of the principals in charge of approving the act of delegation ultimately influenced the unusual and unexpected decision to delegate new exclusive powers to the Commission to implement a new regulation. The next section, however, will argue more specifically in favour of these explanatory factors, referring back to the theoretical framework set up in chapter 2 and using this section's recount of events as evidence.

4.2 Explanatory factors that contributed to the decision to delegate

The reconstruction of the key elements that shaped the legislative procedure of the DMA that was done in the previous section is useful to link back to the theoretical framework established in chapter 2 and build the final argument that some of those factors - in particular, political pressure, credible commitment and conflict between principals - were significant contributors to the ultimate decision to delegate exclusive new powers to the Commission.

Starting with political pressure, section 2.3 established that in situations where political stakes are high and there is a strong sense of urgency to find an EU-level solution to a particularly critical policy problem, it becomes more likely that member states will be willing to delegate new powers to an EU institution: while this might not be their preference in general, in moments of crisis that require swift and decisive action they could reach the conclusion that regulatory integration is the most viable solution, especially if they are not willing to take the political cost of preventing a solution from being adopted at all or from it arriving too late when it is no longer necessary (Dehousse, 2016; Mathieu, 2020). One key example of this from the recent history of EU regulation, despite a general aversion by member states to delegating more powers to the EU in the post-Maastricht period (Coen & Thatcher, 2008; Ripoll Servent, 2018), is the delegation of new powers to the Commission and to the ECB as a way to tackle the Euro-crisis (Dehousse, 2016).

While it would obviously be a stretch to argue that the policy problem addressed by the DMA was as pressing or as grave in entity as the financial crisis, there is nevertheless evidence that the entrenched power of digital platforms was on the verge of becoming a permanent structural problem of the digital markets and that once this was recognised the pressure to provide a solution kept getting higher and higher. Even before the DMA proposal was first being drafted by the Commission, it had become clear that the EU's efforts to curb the harmful effects of the behaviour of big tech companies had not had the intended effect. In fact, the inconsistent enforcement by the authorities in different member states, as well as the differences in national laws, had created an even stronger competitive advantage for large digital corporations compared to the smaller businesses operating on the digital markets. In addition, it was also clear from the start that competition was being quickly eroded in the sector and that new ex-ante rules on gatekeeper behaviour were needed sooner rather than later. The fact that this was happening in the digital sector is also significant, because every other sector of the economy is increasingly digitalised and was at risk of becoming entirely dependent on core services provided by a very small number of multinational corporations. Finally, a number of member states, both before and after the DMA's official proposal, were introducing their own rules on digital platforms, which would have undercut the attempt of finding EU-level solutions to the problem, adding to the general sense of urgency.

This rising pressure could certainly have convinced the Commission that centralised enforcement would be the best way to tackle the issue in its proposal, as national regulators had not appeared to be strong enough to deal with powerful tech companies. Then, once the proposal was in the hands of the EU legislators, representatives of both consumers and competing companies in the digital sectors started lobbying the EU to push the regulation through as quickly as possible so it could achieve its much-needed objectives. The Council and EP were initially in conflict with each other over the issue of delegation, with the member states initially opposed to conferring all implementation powers to the Commission. But at that point the Commission itself used its political strength, repeatedly and publicly calling for regulators to push the regulation through while at the same time there was a rapid increase in the lobbying efforts against the regulation, which actually backfired and made lawmakers even more convinced that the regulation was necessary. And in this political environment where the pressure to introduce this new regulation kept rising, the Council eventually gave up on its opposition and agreed to delegate implementation to the EU-level rather than pushing for national enforcement. This decision may not have been its first choice, but the urgency of the situation contributed to its decision accept delegation rather than having to push back the introduction of new rules even further.

A second, but closely linked with the first, factor that influenced this final decision was the need to make a credible commitment to the new rules for the digital markets. In reviewing the applications of the P-A literature to EU studies, section 2.2 found that credible commitment to the objectives of a policy was a strong explanatory factor for delegation in the European Union, especially when member states delegating powers were doing so as a mutual commitment to the integration project (Majone, 2001; Migliorati, 2021; Pollack, 2006).

In the case of the DMA, it could be argued that if the new rules had not been introduced in time, significant and hard to reverse harm would have been caused to the digital single market, which in itself would have hurt economic integration in the digital sector. However, a stronger argument for the role that credible commitment might have played in the decision to delegate is that the nature of the giant corporations that would be regulated by the DMA created the perception that the EU would appear stronger in its commitment to strict rules if it could position the Commission as an authoritative central regulator. While indirect administration has been the standard when dealing with competition issues in the EU up until the DMA, it should be once again pointed out that in the specific case of dealing with big tech the EU's national enforcement has been questioned. Ireland and Luxembourg, where as was mentioned the tech giants targeted by the DMA have their legal headquarters in the EU, employing thousands of people, have especially been under scrutiny for their weak enforcement against big tech, weather because they were unwilling or unable to be stricter. Furthermore, a lack of cohesion on how competition law had been enforced at the national level in cases regarding the digital economy had been identified as one of the reasons why large digital platforms had been able to create and maintain such an entrenched position of dominance. Ultimately, it could be argued that some national authorities, and particularly some that would end up dealing with a large number of cases if an allocation system similar to the one used for competition law was implemented for the DMA, might not be coordinated enough to ensure harmonised implementation of the new essential regulation and not authoritative enough to face the powerful future gatekeepers. While from a technical standpoint the resources and expertise of the Commission may not be sufficient to always implement the regulation effectively, from a political point of view making it the European regulator for the digital market projects a higher level of authority than leaving implementation in the hands of individual national authorities, showing a higher level of commitment by both the member states and the EU to the new regulation.

Finally, the decision to delegate was also influenced by the dynamics of mistrust and conflict between the multiple institutions, or rather multiple principals, involved in the act of delegation. This explanatory factor was shown by the P-A literature to be particularly important for cases of delegation in the European context. The importance of mistrust is most evident in the delegation of powers to the EU through the treaties: governments understand that economic integration will benefit them collectively, but in order to ensure that they will all follow a set of common rules to achieve integration they choose to delegate the power to preside over these rules to supranational institutions (Dehousse, 2013). But even in secondary EU legislation, preference heterogeneity between multiple principals, for instance between member states or between the Council and the EP, is a factor that generally leads to more supranational delegation and more discretion for supranational institutions (Migliorati, 2021). Interestingly, the dynamic of conflict has also led to forms of governance that are different from the direct administration by the Commission that was ultimately chosen for the DMA. In fact, the agencification process, which involves the delegation of some more or less limited power to a network or agency, has often been explained in the literature as a second-best solution to the problem of harmonisation, accepted as a compromise between the Commission, which would generally prefer more

centralisation, and the member states, who are generally unwilling to give up powers to the EU (Coen & Thatcher, 2008; Ripoll Servant, 2018; Mastenbroek & Schrama, 2022). However, in some specific cases, conflict has been one of the explanatory factor for delegation to the EU with secondary legislation: the example is once again the delegation to the ECB and the Commission in response to the financial crisis, where member states did not trust each other to be financially responsible and EU institutions were able to leverage this mistrust to obtain the delegation of new supervisory powers in the financial sector (Dehousse, 2016).

During the legislative process for the DMA, a long-simmering conflict between member states broke out over the weak enforcement of competition law and GDPR rules against big tech on the part of some national regulators. Ireland and to a lesser extent Luxembourg, who as was discussed deal with a large number of cases because of the case-allocation mechanisms, were directly and indirectly called out by other member states and even by the EP itself for their insufficient actions. Jointly, the member states initially attempted to push for national implementation, but simultaneously a number of states were trying to anticipate the EU with their own national laws so they could tackle digital platforms on their terms, rather than put all their efforts into obtaining a direct role in DMA enforcement. And at the same time, some members even tried to propose a system that would allow every national regulator to enforce the regulation directly even if a violation did not happen in their territory, indirectly showing that states did not trust each other to deal with big tech effectively. In this sense, member states might have eventually come to accept centralisation rather than having to rely on the national implementation of regulators they did not trust to do a good enough job. And similarly to what happened for the delegation of new powers during the financial crisis, the Commission used its political voice strategically, when pressure to approve the regulation was at the highest and when big tech was seen most unfavourably because of its desperate last-second attempts to lobby against the new rules, to leverage the legislators into pushing the regulation through as fast as possible, even if it did not completely satisfy all of their preferences. Which is not to say that member states gave up on their ambition to regulate big tech directly, as evidenced by the fact that they continued to work and introduce their own DMA-like rules within their national competition law, but they eventually seemed to accept that continuing to fight for a role in the DMA itself would not have been worthwhile.

5. Conclusion

This thesis set out to provide an explanation for a puzzle. In a political environment in which for almost thirty years after the Maastricht treaty member states had been unwilling to give up any more powers to supranational institutions by way of delegation and in which indirect administration and network governance had become the norm in most areas of EU regulation, with the Digital Markets Act the decision was made to delegate exclusive new enforcement powers to the European Commission in an essential policy area. To untangle the puzzle, this work's first priority was to find a strand of academic literature under which to frame the analysis and make sense of this unexpected regulatory choice, finding its starting point in the Principal-Agent framework. Not only has the P-A model been applied to the study of many cases of delegation in the EU, which makes its literary contributions a useful resource to analyse delegation in the DMA, but it also has the advantage of being a rather flexible model, that does not consist of strict cause and effect elements and can be applied to a number of different cases and configurations that delegation might take. In fact, the P-A model had also been used to provide explanations for the agencification trend that the DMA could be considered an outlier of.

From reviewing key contributions to the P-A literature, particularly in its applications to EU studies, a number of explanatory factors that may influence individual cases of delegation in the EU were identified. The first factors addressed are the purely functional reasons for delegation of regulatory efficiency and policy complexity, which this thesis has argued could not have been the most important considerations for the principals that led to their decision to delegate. Chapter 3 argued against functional explanations in the DMA's case by discussing a number of potential issues, pointed out by both scholars and actors directly or tangentially involved with the legislative process and directly related to centralisation of all enforcement in the Commission, that may prevent the regulation from being implemented effectively. In the simplest terms, these potential inefficiencies boil down to two main problems: on the one hand, the resources and specific expertise available to the Commission on its own, compared to the regulated gatekeepers, do not appear to be sufficient to effectively exercise its role as central regulator for the digital markets; on the other, the lack of a more robust cooperation mechanism with national authorities makes it likely that DMA enforcement will often be in parallel and potentially in conflict with the enforcement of national competition laws, national laws on economic dependence and especially national laws directly targeting similar issues as the DMA. Because of these potential inefficiencies, this thesis argues that factors other than regulatory efficiency and policy complexity must have contributed to influencing the EU legislators to opt for delegating DMA implementation exclusively to the Commission.

Having argued against regulatory efficiency and policy complexity as explanatory factors for delegation in the DMA, this thesis makes the case that other factors emerging from the P-A literature have influenced the decision to delegate. To recap the findings of chapter 4, based on its review of the Principal-Agent literature (chapter 1) and on the reconstruction of the DMA's legislative process (section 4.1), this

contribution argues that the unusual decision to delegate new exclusive powers to the Commission seems to have been influenced by:

- a strong political pressure to find a common EU solution to the problem of anti-competitive behaviour by digital platforms, caused by the realisation that competition law had not been preventative enough and consistently increased by the lobbying efforts of businesses operating in the digital markets, consumer organisations and the Commission itself, which led to a sense of urgency on the part of the legislators to approve the regulation as fast as possible even if it meant accepting that all implementation powers would be centralised;
- a perception that the Commission as a centralised regulator would be more authoritative than individual national authorities in dealing with powerful corporations, which made delegation useful to present the stronger possible political commitment to enforcing strict behavioural rules on gatekeepers, despite concerns over whether the resources and expertise of the Commission would be technically sufficient;
- a mistrust in the willingness and ability of some national regulators particularly the Irish authorities, that would be dealing with a large amount of cases if a system for allocation similar to the one used for competition law was implemented for the DMA to be strict enough enforcers of rules vis-à-vis large tech firms, which made it easier for members to ultimately accept leaving implementation in the hands of the Commission, even as a second-best option.

In applying the Principal-Agent framework to the specific case of the DMA, this thesis makes a modest contribution to the literature on delegation in the EU and on EU governance in general.

First, in terms of the P-A literature, it proves the flexibility of the framework itself and its applicability as an analytical tool even in outlier cases of delegation that seem to go against expectations. This case provides an effective example of the functional reasons for delegation, namely regulatory efficiency and policy complexity, not always being the main explanatory factors that shape the decision made by principals to confer powers onto an agent. In the case of the DMA, in fact, if these factors were to be considered as the most important ones, they would lead to expecting that the form delegation would take would be in line with the more common network governance model. However, as this case demonstrates, other factors that are more political in nature - the pressure to act on a particularly urgent policy problem, the need to make a credible commitment to a specific policy vis-à-vis powerful stakeholders and the dynamics of conflict between the multiple principals involved in acts of delegation in the EU - can sometimes have a stronger influence on principals than functional pressures and contribute to creating a seemingly unexpected outcome. Even fully understanding that the Commission alone might not have the resources and expertise to effectively implement the DMA on its own, member states were ultimately willing to accept a centralised enforcement model, even if it was a second-best solution for them, because the sense of urgency to push the regulation through as fast as possible was extremely high, because the perception was that the Commission as a central regulator would present a stronger sense of authority and commitment to the new rules targeted at powerful digital platforms

and because they did not trust each other to enforce the rules against big tech companies as strictly as was deemed necessary.

On the other hand, this application of P-A theory to such an outlier case also shows its relative weakness as a predictive model. While it proved particularly apt for analysing the specific case of delegation discussed in this thesis ex-post, if the same analytical framework were to be used to try to predict the path delegation would take in the DMA before the regulation was introduced, it would have led to the wrong expectation that the most likely outcome would be that implementation would be delegated to national authorities, because of the functional considerations outlined in this thesis (section 3.3) and because of the wider trends of EU governance. In other words, no matter how much the literature has specified and elaborated on the model, its malleability remains both its greatest strength, as it can be used to frame a wide variety of different forms of delegation, and its biggest weakness, as the different explanatory factors that may shape delegation that it identifies may lead to erroneous expectations if used as predictive factors of future delegation. Moreover, its strength as a theory in political science may also be called into question because of the very fact that it could be used to explain opposite outcomes in very similar circumstances. Because of these issues, it seems advisable to apply the model as a framework to analyse cases or trends in delegation, rather than as a theory to build expectations on future delegation.

Furthermore, in terms of the wider study of EU governance, this contribution shows that even strong multi-decade-long trends can have major exceptions. Despite the fact that a specific governance model, indirect administration and agencification, has become increasingly dominant in EU regulation in the post-Maastricht period, the case of the DMA demonstrates that under specific circumstances and for specific regulations, direct administration may still be chosen by the EU legislators. In this sense, future academic work could analyse the DMA in parallel to other outliers cases to the general trend, for instance the new supervisory powers given to the Commission and the ECB in response to the Euro-crisis, to find even more similarities than those identified in this thesis (section 2.3 and 4.2) and potentially build an analytical model to frame the unusual cases in which new supranational powers are introduced with secondary EU legislation even in a political environment where member states seem opposed to more supranationalism. At first glance, the most significant common factor of these cases seems to be the perception that a particularly critical policy problem can only be addressed at the EU level, but this line of thinking deserves its own specific research.

Finally, it should be noted that providing an explanation for the unusual choice to centralise all enforcement of the DMA in the Commission does not erase the legitimate concerns expressed by various institutions and by scholars on whether the Commission will be able to effectively implement the new rules in practice. This thesis' aim is to identify explanatory factors that contributed to the decision to delegate implementation to the Commission, and it does so by pointing out a series of political dynamics that affected the EU legislators during the legislative process, but it does not have the ambition to also determine whether the decision will prove to be beneficial for the objectives of the DMA itself. While it seems reasonable to cast some doubt, as many have, on the Commission's ability to achieve the DMA's goals, based on the limitations

of its resources and the different risks of fragmentation identified by scholars (section 3.3), it will only be possible to judge the regulation's effectiveness once some time passes and its outcomes can be properly analysed.

Reference list

Literature

- Andriychuk, O. (2021). 'The Digital Markets Act: A Comparative Analysis of the Commission's, IMCO-Parliament's and Council's Drafts of the DMA', (January 12, 2021). Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3976158 or http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3976158.
- Akman, P. (2021). 'Regulating Competition in Digital Platform Markets: A Critical Assessment of the Framework and Approach of the EU Digital Markets Act', *European Law Review*, forthcoming (2022).
- Bergstrom, C., F. (2015). 'Shaping the new system for delegation of powers to EU agencies: *United Kingdom v. European Parliament and Council (Short selling)*', *Common Market Law Review*, 52, 219-245.
- Carugati, C. (2021). 'The Role of National Authorities in the Digital Markets Act', working paper: last updated October 20, 2021.
- Carugati, C. (2022). 'The Implementation of the Digital Markets Act with National Antitrust Laws', draft working paper: last updated 22 April, 2022.
- Cengiz, F. (2010). 'Multi-level governance in competition policy: The European Competition Network', European Law Review, 35(5), 660-677.
- Chirico, F. (2021). 'Digital Markets Act: A Regulatory Perspective', *Journal of European Competition Law & Practice*, 2021, 12(7), 493-499.
- Coen, D. & Thatcher, M. (2008). Network Governance and Multi-level Delegation: European Networks of Regulatory Agencies. *Journal of Public Policy*, 28(1), 49-71.
- Colangelo, G. (2022). 'The European Digital Markets Act and Antitrust Enforcement: A Liaison Dangereuse', ICLE White Paper; a revised version of the paper is forthcoming in *European Law Review*.
- De Streel, A. & Larouche, P. (2021). 'The European Digital Markets Act proposal: How to improve a regulatory revolution', *Concurrences*, 2021, 2, 46-63.
- Dehousse, R. (2008). Delegation of powers in the European Union: the need for a multi-principals model, *West European Politics*, 31(4), 789-805.
- Dehousse, R. (2013). The Politics of Delegation in the European Union, Les Cahiers européens de Sciences Po, 4, 2-27.
- Dehousse, R. (2016). Why has EU macroeconomic governance become more supranational?, *Journal of European Integration*, 38(5), 617-631.
- Delreux, T. & Adriaensen, J. (2017). 'Introduction. Use and Limitations of the Principal–Agent Model in Studying the European Union.' In: Delreux, T., Adriaensen, J. (eds) *The Principal Agent Model and the European Union*, Palgrave Studies in European Union Politics, Palgrave Macmillan, Cham, 1-28.
- Epstein, D. & O'Halloran, S. (1994). Administrative Procedures, Information, and Agency Discretion, American Journal of Political Science, 38(3), 697–722.

- Epstein, D. & O'Halloran, S. (1999). Delegating Powers: A Transaction Cost Politics Approach To Policy Making Under Separate Powers. Cambridge University Press.
- Falce, V. (2021). 'Digital Markets between Regulation and Competition policy. Converging agendas.', European Journal of Privacy Law & Technologies, 2021, 1, 9-18.
- Franchino, F. (2004). Delegating Powers in the European Community, *British Journal of Political Science*, 34(2), 269-293.
- Griller, S. and Orator, A. (2010). Everything Under Control? The "Way Forward" for European Agencies in the Footsteps of the *Meroni* Doctrine, *European Law Review* 35(3), 13-14.
- Heldt, E., C. (2021). A new delegation design for EU governance: how preference cohesiveness of multiple principals shapes the European Commission's discretion in trade negotiation, *Comparative European Politics*, 19, 576-593.
- Jensen, M., C. & Meckling, W., H. (1976). Theory of the Firm: Managerial Behaviours, Agency Costs and Ownership Structure, *Journal of Financial Economics*, 3(4), 305-360.
- Komninos, P. (2022). 'The Digital Markets Act: How Does it Compare with Competition Law?', Forthcoming in *Portale di Diritto Europeo ed Internazionale*.
- Larouche, P. & De Streel, A. (2021). 'The European Digital Markets Act: A Revolution Grounded on Traditions', *Journal of European Competition Law & Practice*, 2021, 12(7), 542-560.
- Majone, G. (2001). Two Logics of Delegation: Agency and Fiduciary Relations in EU Governance, *European Union Politics*, 2(1), 103–122.
- Martinsen, D., S., Mastenbroek, E. & Schrama, R. (2022). The power of 'weak' institutions: assessing the EU's emerging institutional architecture for improving the implementation and enforcement of joint policies, *Journal of European Public Policy*, 29(10), 1529-1545.
- Mathieu, E. (2020). Functional stakes and EU regulatory governance: temporal patterns of regulatory integration in energy and telecommunications, *West European Politics*, 43(4), 991-1010.
- Migliorati, M. (2021). Where does implementation lie? Assessing the determinants of delegation and discretion in post-Maastricht European Union, *Journal of Public Policy*, 41, 489-514.
- Monti, G. (2021). 'The Digital Markets Act Institutional Design and Suggestions for Improvement', TILEC Discussion Paper No. 2021-04.
- Petit, N. (2021). 'The Proposed Digital Markets Act (DMA): A Legal and Policy Review', *Journal of European Competition Law & Practice*, 2021, 12(7), 529-541.
- Pollack, M., A. (2006). 'Delegation and discretion in the European Union', in: Hawkins, D., Lake, D., Nielson, D. & Tierney, M. (Eds.), *Delegation and Agency in International Organizations*, 165-196.
- Potocnik-Manzouri, C. (2021). 'The ECN+ Directive: an example of decentralised cooperation to enforce competition law', *European Papers*, 6(2), 987-1013.
- Renda, A. (2022). 'Can the EU Digital Markets Act Achieve Its Goals?', The Digital Revolution and the New Social Contract series, Center for the Governance of Change, IE University, June.

- Ripoll Servent, A. (2018). A New Form of Delegation in EU Asylum: Agencies as Proxies of Strong Regulators, *Journal of Common Market Studies*, 56(1), 83-100.
- Simoncini, M. (2017). EU Agencies in the Internal Market: A Constitutional Challenge for EU Law, *STALS* Research Paper 1/2017.
- Simoncini, M. (2018). *Administrative regulation beyond the non-delegation doctrine: a study on eu agencies*. Oxford: Hart Publishing (Modern studies in European law, volume 88).
- Simoncini, M. (2021). The delegation of powers to EU agencies after the financial crisis, *European Papers*, 6(3), 1485-1503.
- Thatcher, M. & Stone Sweet, A. (2002). Theory and Practice of Delegation to Non-Majoritarian Institutions, *West European Politics*, 25(1), 1-22.
- Van Cleynenbreugel, P. (2021). 'The Commission's digital services and markets act proposals: First step towards tougher and more directly enforced EU rules?', *Maastricht Journal of European and Comparative Law*, 2021, 28(5), 667-686.

EU legislation, Case Law, official documents

- Case 270/12, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland v. Council of European Union and European Parliament (short selling), ECLI:EU:C:2014:18.
- Case 98/80, Giuseppe Romano v. Institut national d'assurance maladie-invalidité, (1981) ECR 1259.
- Cases 9/56 and 10/56, Meroni & Co., Industrie Metallurgiche S.p.A. v. High Authority, (1957-1958) ECR 133.
- Council of the European Union (2021a). Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on contestable and fair markets in the digital sector (Digital Markets Act) General approach, 16 November 2021, No. 13801/21.
- Council of the European Union (2021b). Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on contestable and fair markets in the digital sector (Digital Markets Act) Progress report, 17 May 2021, No. 8807/21.
- Council of the European Union (2022). Voting result Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on contestable and fair markets in the digital sector (Digital Markets Act) Adoption of the legislative act 3890th meeting of the COUNCIL OF THE EUROPEAN UNION (Agriculture and Fisheries Council) 18 July 2022, Brussels.
- Consolidated text: Regulation (EU) 2016/679 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 April 2016 on the protection of natural persons with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data, and repealing Directive 95/46/EC (General Data Protection Regulation).
- European Commission, Directorate-General for Competition, Montjoye, Y., Schweitzer, H., Crémer, J. (2019). *Competition policy for the digital era*, Publications Office.
- European Competition Network (2021). Joint Paper of the Heads of the National Competition Authorities of the European Union–How National Competition Agencies Can Strengthen the DMA, June 2021.

- European Court of Auditors (2020). Special Report 24/2020 'The Commission's EU merger control and antitrust proceedings: a need to scale up market oversight' 2020/C 400/04.
- European Parliament Committee on the Internal Markt and Consumer Protection (2021a). Draft Report on the proposal for a regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council Contestable and fair markets in the digital sector (Digital Markets Act) (COM(2020)0842 C9-0419/2020 2020/0374(COD)).
- European Parliament Committee on the Internal Market and Consumer Protection (2021b). Report on the proposal for a regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on contestable and fair markets in the digital sector (Digital Markets Act) (COM(2020)0842 C9-0419/2020 2020/0374(COD)).
- European Parliament Committee on the Internal Market and Consumer Protection (2022). Provisional agreement resulting from interinstitutional negotiations on the proposal for a regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on contestable and fair markets in the digital sector (Digital Markets Act) (COM(2020)0842 C9-0419/2020 2020/0374(COD)).
- European Parliament (2022a). European Parliament legislative resolution of 5 July 2022 on the proposal for a regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on contestable and fair markets in the digital sector (Digital Markets Act) (COM(2020)0842 C9-0419/2020 2020/0374(COD)).
- European Parliament (2022b). Position of the European Parliament adopted at first reading on 5 July 2022 with a view to the adoption of Regulation (EU) 2022/... of the European Parliament and of the Council on contestable and fair markets in the digital sector and amending Directives (EU) 2019/1937 and (EU) 2020/1828 (Digital Markets Act).
- European Union, Consolidated version of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, 13 December 2007, 2008/C 115/01.
- European Union, *Treaty on European Union (Consolidated Version), Treaty of Maastricht*, 7 February 1992, Official Journal of the European Communities C 325/5; 24 December 2002.
- Proposal for a regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on contestable and fair markets in the digital sector (Digital Markets Act), COM (2020) 842, final.
- Regulation 1/2003 on the Implementation of the Rules on Competition laid down in arts 81 and 82 of the Treaty [2003] OJ L1/1.
- Regulation (EU) 2022/1925 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 September 2022 on contestable and fair markets in the digital sector and amending Directives (EU) 2019/1937 and (EU) 2020/1828 (Digital Markets Act).
- Regulation (EU) 2022/2065 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 October 2022 on a Single Market For Digital Services and amending Directive 2000/31/EC (Digital Services Act).

Financial Times articles

- Abboud, L. & Espinoza, J. (2021, February 15). France pushes for big changes to proposed EU tech regulation. Financial Times. Available at: https://on.ft.com/3baCcnC (accessed 12 September 2023).
- Brunsden, J. & Espinoza, J. (2019, July 17). Vestager's parting shot at big tech aims for Amazon and Qualcomm. *Financial Times*. Available at: https://on.ft.com/3r48xsh (accessed 6 September 2023).
- Chazan, G. (2020, February 4). Tech companies face clampdown in Germany over competition fears. Financial Times. Available at: https://on.ft.com/3RgCjoi (accessed 8 September 2023).
- Espinoza, J. (2019, October 8). Vestager warns Big Tech she will move beyond competition fines. *Financial Times*. Available at: https://on.ft.com/38enUB7 (accessed 7 September 2023).
- Espinoza, J. (2020a, December 4). Brussels looks to impose two-tier Big Tech regulation. *Financial Times*. Available at: https://on.ft.com/37ydnjU (accessed 8 September 2023).
- Espinoza, J. (2020b, December 14). 'Brussels faces reality check as it prepares to overhaul tech rules', *Financial Times*. Available at: https://on.ft.com/3a7tdER (accessed 25 August 2023).
- Espinoza, J. (2020c, September 29). 'Brussels urged to revolutionise rules for Big Tech companies', *Financial Times*. Available at: https://on.ft.com/33buMO1 (accessed 9 September 2023).
- Espinoza, J. (2020d, June 23). 'EU admits it has been hard to implement GDPR', *Financial Times*. Available at: https://on.ft.com/3hTjXWs (accessed 8 September 2023).
- Espinoza, J. (2020e, October 28). 'Internal Google document reveals campaign against EU lawmakers', *Financial Times*. Available at: https://on.ft.com/3kDbpE6 (accessed 9 September 2023).
- Espinoza, J. (2021a, January 20). 'Big Tech told work with EU or face patchwork of national laws', *Financial Times*. Available at: https://on.ft.com/3qyHTSw (accessed 25 August 2023).
- Espinoza, J. (2021b, March 21). 'EU infighting risks delaying landmark effort to curb Big Tech', *Financial Times*. Available at: https://on.ft.com/313u2ZC (accessed 11 September, 2023).
- Espinoza, J. (2021c, May 31). 'EU should focus on top 5 tech companies, says leading MEP', *Financial Times*. Available at: https://on.ft.com/3c4Z8pO (accessed 11 September 2023).
- Espinoza, J. (2021d, March 17). 'Fight breaks out between Ireland and Germany over Big Tech regulation', Financial Times. Available at: https://on.ft.com/30TnIDW (accessed 12 September 2023).
- Espinoza, J. (2021e, October 11). 'Fighting in Brussels bogs down plans to regulate Big Tech', *Financial Times*. Available at: https://on.ft.com/3v3jat8 (accessed 11 September 2023).
- Espinoza, J. (2021f, November 28). 'Vestager urges European legislators to push through rules to regulate Big Tech', *Financial Times*. Available at: https://on.ft.com/3E5Czx6 (accessed 13 September 2023).
- Espinoza, J. (2022a, August 19). 'EU braced for legal challenges to rules designed to tackle Big Tech', *Financial Times*. Available at: https://on.ft.com/3pvPe6K (accessed 25 August 2023).
- Espinoza, J. (2022b, March 23). 'EU to unveil landmark legislation to tackle market power of Big Tech', *Financial Times*. Available at: https://on.ft.com/3D137Qt (accessed 13 September 2023).

- Espinoza, J. (2022c, January 11). 'Google in last-ditch lobbying attempt to influence incoming EU tech rules', *Financial Times*. Available at: https://on.ft.com/3zN914B (accessed 13 September 2023).
- Espinoza, J. (2022d, March 21). 'How Big Tech lost the antitrust battle with Europe', *Financial Times*. Available at: https://on.ft.com/3ioMchi (accessed 13 September 2023).
- Espinoza, J. & Hindley, D. (2020, December 16). Brussels' plans to tackle digital 'gatekeepers' spark fevered debate. *Financial Times*. Available at: https://on.ft.com/34jZhld (accessed 9 September 2023).
- Espinoza, J. & Khan, M. (2020, October 15). France and Netherlands join forces to back EU move against tech giants. *Financial Times*. Available at: https://on.ft.com/3nVvcRo (accessed 9 September 2023).
- Espinoza, J. & Solomon, E. (2021, July 14). EU draft tech rules too 'narrow', says German competition head. *Financial Times*. Available at: https://on.ft.com/3khu6Qb (accessed 25 August 2023).
- Espinoza, J., Khan, M. & Hancock, A, (2020, October 26). Booking.com hits out at EU rules it says will 'hobble' platform. *Financial Times*. Available at: https://on.ft.com/3osVYkg (accessed 9 September 2023).
- Khan, M. (2019, July 23). Brussels defends lack of blockbuster fines for big tech groups. *Financial Times*. Available at: https://on.ft.com/3rdjaZZ (accessed 8 September 2023).
- Toplensky, R. & Murgia, M. (2019, April 4). Changes to EU antitrust enforcement on Big Tech urged. *Financial Times*. Available at: https://on.ft.com/3sFEho1 (accessed 6 September 2023).

Thesis summary

The new Digital Markets Act (DMA) was introduced by the UE as part of its continued efforts to limit the damages to competition caused by big tech corporations operating core services in the digital economy. The regulation seeks to ensure fairness and contestability in the digital markets by introducing asymmetrical obligations on large companies that will be designated as gatekeepers based on a set of quantitative and qualitative criteria. While scholars have generally considered the new rules a step in the right direction, there is also a consensus in the literature that the choice to centralise all DMA enforcement in the Commission might cause inefficient implementation. However, not much attention has been given to what factors might have led to the decision to delegate exclusive implementation powers to the Commission, rather than opting for a decentralised model of enforcement that has become the norm in EU governance. This feature of the DMA makes it stand out compared to the vast majority of EU regulations, because it does not fit into the general trend toward network governance and agencification that has become increasingly dominant in the post-Maastricht EU: member states have not been willing to delegate new powers to the EU, so regulations are generally implemented at the national level, with a network or agency being set up to ensure some level of harmonisation.

This thesis aims at framing the DMA within the wider literature on delegation in the European context to find what some explanatory factors that contributed to the decision to delegate exclusive powers to the Commission might be. In particular, to build a theoretical framework for this analysis, it first focuses on the application of the Principal-Agent model of delegation in EU studies.

The Principal-Agent (P-A) framework originates from American economics and political science and can be described as a way to analyse and explain the relationship between actors who delegate powers and the actors who they delegate these powers to: principals delegate some specific powers to agents in order to achieve a certain goal. In political science, this phenomenon presents itself when elected officials, the principals, delegate powers to non-majoritarian institutions (NMIs), the agents, to implement specific public policies. According to the P-A literature, elected officials delegate powers to NMIs because delegation serves different functional purposes, because they believe it will improve the likelihood of achieve their policy objectives. For instance, they may chose to delegate to: improve regulatory efficiency, leverage specific expertise that an NMI could be better equipped to have or make a credible long-term commitment to a policy. These functional reasons for delegation, however, do not paint the full picture: delegation not the only possible way to achieve these functional objectives and the decision to delegate varies across time, policy areas and political system, which means other factors also influence officials to choose this option or not. In fact, reviewing some of the main literary contributions where the P-A framework is applied to the EU context shows how a variety of other factors can shape delegation.

Delegation is a key feature of European integration: member states delegate powers to supranational institutions through the treaties in order to achieve common goals, of which the most important one is

economic and political integration. However, delegation in this context can take different paths, as on top of delegation to the supranational level, the powers to implement EU regulations is generally delegated to the national level, often specifically to national regulatory agencies (NRAs), and some more limited powers can also be given to a network or agency to ensure cooperation and harmonisation. The P-A literature identifies a number of explanatory factors, on top of the purely functional reasons already mentioned, that may shape decisions to delegate in the EU context and determine the different paths of delegation, of which the following three are most relevant for the DMA's case:

- the political environment: the more there is strong political pressure to solve an EU wide policy problem that is particularly urgent, the more likely it is that there will be more supranational delegation;
- the dynamics of mistrust or conflict between the multiple principals involved in the policy process: when the preference of different member states are misaligned, it is more likely that there will be more supranational delegation, as the members would rather give more powers to a supranational institution that they participate in than trust each other to implement EU policy;
- credible commitment, which in the specific case of the EU is not only to specific policies, but to the wider EU integration project: members, who's preferences might not always completely align, decide to give powers to the supranational level to make a commitment to each other to European integration.

In the post-Maastricht EU, these factors have also been used to explain the increasing trend towards network governance and agencification. Member states have become particularly unwilling to confer more powers onto the supranational level and delegation to supranational institutions has generally been limited to relatively weak powers to coordinate between national authorities being given to a network of regulators or EU agency. Further it should be noted that supranational delegation has generally been done through the treaties rather than with secondary EU legislation, which has normally always been implemented according to a model of indirect administration. The DMA, as was stated, is a rare outlier to this general trend in EU governance, which is the reason why it is an interesting case study for the delegation literature.

In attempting to find an explanation for this unusual case of delegation, the thesis first focuses on the two main functional reasons for delegation: regulatory efficiency and policy complexity, or the need for specific technical expertise. What it finds is that most scholars agree that the resources and expertise available to the Commission will be relatively limited in comparison with the regulated gatekeepers, which risks compromising regulatory efficiency in a variety of ways. DG Competition's staff for DMA implementation will only be increased by 80 new members, who will most likely not be enough or have the necessary expertise to monitor compliance across the entire Union for the highly technical rules introduced by the regulation, to deal with all necessary enforcement procedures and to carry out the complex new market investigations envisioned by the DMA as a tool to designate new gatekeepers, introduce new obligations or core platform services covered by the regulation or determine whether a gatekeeper is in systemic non-compliance of its

obligations. Additionally, the DMA will most likely overlap or be in conflict with a variety of national laws, such as competition laws, laws on economic dependence and sector specific regulations, which because of centralisation and a lack of clear mechanisms for cooperation with national authorities - who will also be disincentivised to work with the Commission because of their lack of direct involvement in DMA enforcement - to resolve cases of parallel or conflicting enforcement will most likely lead to regulatory fragmentation. Finally, it can be argued that if the need for expertise was a primary concern, then involving National Competition Authorities would have been the natural decision, as they have accumulated both experience and specific knowledge that would improve DMA implementation over years of competition law enforcement in the digital economy.

All these potential inefficiencies were not only pointed out by academics but also fully known to relevant authorities, as demonstrated by the European Competition Network publicly arguing that the Commission would not have sufficient resources and knowledge to enforce the DMA on its own, by MEP Andreas Schwab, who led the debate on the proposed regulation in the European Parliament, stating that the resources allocated to DMA implementation should be at least doubled and by the Commission itself repeatedly expressing concerns about regulatory fragmentation. Because of this, this thesis argues that regulatory efficiency and policy complexity not only do not provide an explanation for the decision to delegate DMA implementation to the Commission, but in fact that if these functional factors were primary concerns of the EU legislators they would have led to a different outcome, most likely in line with the more common model of indirect administration.

Having argued against these functional explanations for delegation, the thesis then reconstructs the legislative process that led to the DMA's final approval to use it as evidence for how other more political factors contributed to the ultimate decision to delegate implementation to the Commission. The proposal for the regulation was introduced in a moment when it had become clear that the EU's previous efforts to curb the power of big tech in the digital economy had not been sufficient: not only had the EU been under scrutiny for the inefficacy of its competition law enforcement, but even the more recent regulation specifically targeting the digital sector, the General Data Protection Regulation, had proven difficult and slow to implement. Inconsistent implementation across different member states had also been identified as a point of weakness, as it had created a competitive advantage for large tech firms rather than preventing anti-competitive behaviour. Representatives of businesses operating in the digital sector and of consumers were lobbying the EU to act and at the same time a number of member states were in the process of introducing their own sectors specific regulations to deal with big tech at the national level. All of these elements created strong pressures to find an EU-level solution to the problems caused by dominant gatekeepers in the digital markets, leading the Commission, who was particularly concerned with potential fragmentation, to propose itself as the centralised regulator for the new DMA. These pressures continued to increase during the legislative process, as it became increasingly clear that the new rules needed to be approved as soon as possible, or digital platforms would be able to completely eradicate competition.

The European Parliament, while taking some time to debate the actual content of the regulation, seemed willing to accept the new delegation of powers to the Commission almost from the start. Member states, on the other hand, initially fought back against this option, proposing a model of decentralised enforcement both in the Council and through the European Competition Network. However, despite presenting a united front, conflict and mistrust between members soon came to light: a general sense of mistrust in the willingness and ability of some national authorities to be strong regulators against big tech emerged, especially against Ireland and Luxembourg, where many tech corporations had their European headquarters, causing these countries to deal with a large number of cases under competition law and the GDPR. Unable to push for a solution that allowed all national authorities to enforce the upcoming regulation regardless of where violations might have happened, with the political pressure to approve rising and the increased lobbying efforts by big tech firms to weaken the provisions of the upcoming regulation, the member states were ultimately willing to accept centralised enforcement, even as a second-best option. If they had delayed the regulation to push for a case-allocation system similar to competition law, not only would they have delayed the approval of the DMA, curbing its effectiveness, but they would also have had to let national authorities that many of them did not consider strong enough deal with many of the enforcement procedures.

Having reviewed the legislative procedure of the DMA, the thesis ultimately argues that the decision to delegate was influenced by three contributing factors:

- a strong political pressure to find a common EU solution to the problem of anti-competitive behaviour by digital platforms, caused by the realisation that competition law had not been preventative enough and consistently increased by the lobbying efforts of businesses operating in the digital markets, consumer organisations and the Commission itself, which led to a sense of urgency on the part of the legislators to approve the regulation as fast as possible even if it meant accepting that all implementation powers would be centralised;
- a perception that the Commission as a centralised regulator would be more authoritative than individual national authorities in dealing with powerful corporations, which made delegation useful to present the stronger possible political commitment to enforcing strict behavioural rules on gatekeepers, despite concerns over whether the resources and expertise of the Commission would be technically sufficient;
- a mistrust in the willingness and ability of some national regulators particularly the Irish authorities, that would be dealing with a large amount of cases if a system for allocation similar to the one used for competition law was implemented for the DMA to be strict enough enforcers of rules vis-à-vis large tech firms, which made it easier for members to ultimately accept leaving implementation in the hands of the Commission, even as a second-best option.

In applying the P-A framework to the DMA's case, on top of providing an answer to its research question, the thesis contributes to the delegation literature and to the literature on EU governance. It confirms that the strength of the P-A model is in its flexibility, as it can be used as an analytical tool even in cases that

stray away from expectations like the DMA. In particular, it provides an example of how functional explanations are not always the main determinants of delegation, which in specific circumstances may be affected more by the political factors identified above. It also, on the other hand, shows the relative weakness of the P-A framework as a theory, as its malleability also means that it is not very useful as a predictive model for future delegation: in the case of the DMA, in fact, if it was used this way it would have led to the wrong expectations. Finally, in terms of the wider literature on EU governance, the DMA's case shows that even a trend as strong as agencification and network governance, which has become the standard in the decades after the Maastricht treaty, can have major exceptions under a specific set of circumstances. In this sense, the DMA could be studied by future research in parallel with other rare cases of centralised delegation in the post-Maastricht EU to find commonalities and potentially develop another strand of academic analysis.